
PUBLIC NOTICE
Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 12/4/23 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, December 7th, 2023
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

Time: 3:30 PM
AGENDA

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE ACTION ON ANY OF
THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION, INCLUDING AUXILIARY
AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE
TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA -

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the public is permitted to
make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question regarding matters related to the District.
Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

IV. CONSENT ITEMS –

A. Correspondence
B. Meeting Minutes – 10/26/2023, 11/16/2023
C. Financial Reports
D. Agreements/Contracts

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – RCD

A. Consideration and approval of Cooperative agreement with the Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. to have the
Honey Lake Valley RCD act as CEQA Lead Agency for the North Susanville Wildland Urban Interface
(WUI) Fuel Treatments Project. (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

B. Consideration and approval of draft Initial Study - Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for the North
Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project, Lassen County, CA. (attachment)

C.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

D. Consideration and Approval of MOU, Resolution 2023-04, and Participation Agreement between
HLVRCD and SDRMA authorizing participation in SDRMA’s Health Benefits Program. (attachments)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

E. Discussion and direction to staff regarding the Prescribed Burn Association grant program and hiring a
coordinator.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

F. Second reading of the 2024 RCD/Watermaster Calendar (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VI. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – WATERMASTER

A. Approval of the SRWSA Annual Usage Report for 2023 (attachment)

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VII. REPORTS
A. District Manager Report – Stuemky/Siemer (attachment)

B. NRCS Agency Report – Stephens

C. SWAT - Hanson

D. Watermaster / WAC Report – Clark

E. Modoc Regional RCD/CARCD Report – Tippin/Hanson

F. Fire Safe Council Report – Johnson



G. Post-Fire Recovery Report – Wooster

H. IRWMP Report – Claypool

I. NRCS Partnership Report – Hanson

J. Unagendized reports by board members

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VIII. ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION
A. EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW DISCUSSION. Title: Deputy Watermaster, with respect to every

item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54957 (b)(1).

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

IX. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION

X. ADJOURNMENT
The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be January 25, 2023, at 3:30 PM. The location is
the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville, CA.

I certify that on Monday, December 4th, 2023 agendas were posted as required by Government Code Section 54956 and any other
applicable law.

X____________________
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
Board Meeting of the: 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
170 Russell Ave. Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 
5302574127 ext. 100 

 Attachments available 10/23/2023 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us 
 

Date: Thursday, October 26th, 2023 
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130 

 
 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
*votes taken via role call* 

 
NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE 
ACTION ON ANY OF THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW. 

 
NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION, 
INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE 
CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED 
ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL 
 

Board member Jesse Claypool called the meeting to order at 5:30PM, and a quorum was noted. 
 
II.   APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the agenda, Board member Wayne Langston 
seconded, and the motion passed. All. 

 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 

 
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the 
public is permitted to make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question 

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us/


regarding matters related to the District. Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a 
maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter. 

 
Vicki Pyle gave public comment regarding her apportionment bill. HLV RCD staff to resolve.  
 

IV. CONSENT ITEMS 
A. Correspondence  
B. Meeting Minutes – 9/28/2023, 10/06/2023 
C. Financial Reports 
D. Agreements / Contracts 

 
Board Member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the consent items, Board member Wayne 
Langston seconded, the motion passed. All.  
 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 
 

V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION - RCD 
 

A. Presentation from Eric Rubio about the benefits of wood chips and potential post fire projects. 

No reportable action. 

 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 

B. Consideration and approval of November and December Board Meeting dates. 
 
Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to keep the December 7th meeting as scheduled, Board 
member Wayne Langston seconded, and the motion passed. All. 

 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 

C. Consideration and approval of paying CSDA Membership Dues and NACD Conservation Investment. 

Board Member Laurie Tippin made a motion to approve CSDA Membership Dues and to decline NACD 
Investment. Board member Robin Hanson seconded, and the motion passed. All. 

 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 

D. First reading of the 2024 RCD/Watermaster Calendar (attachment). 

Reading was held. Direction was given to staff on changes to be made. 
 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 

E. Consideration and approval of health insurance coverage for RCD Employees (attachment). 

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve health insurance plans to offer RCD 
Employees. Board member Wayne Langston seconded, and the motion passed. All. 

 
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 

 

 
VI. ITEMS FOR BOARD DISCUSSION AND/OR ACTION – WATERMASTER 

 
A. First reading of the annual usage report.  

 
Held. Direction given to staff for changes to be made. 
 

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity. 



VII. REPORTS
A. District Manager Report – Stuemky / Siemer

Reported on all current grant projects as well as upcoming applications. 

B. NRCS Agency Report – Stephens

NONE 

C. SWAT – Hanson

NONE 

D. Watermaster / WAC Report – Clark / Langston

Updates given on SRWMSA issues, AUR progress, and WAC Meeting. 

E. Modoc Regional RCD / CARCD Report – Tippin / Hanson

Laurie Tippin has officially stepped down as chair, and Robin Hanson has officially been voted in as 

chair. 

F. Fire Safe Council Report – Johnson

NONE 

G. Post Fire Recovery Report – Wooster

Updates given on current project status (Upper Stevens Meadows), which should complete the bio-

massing portion of the project. 

H. IRWMP Report – Claypool

NONE 

I. NRCS Partnership Report – Hanson

NONE 

J. Unagendized Reports by Board Members

NONE 

VIII. ADJOURNMENT – 8:27 PM
The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be December 7th, 2023 at 3:30 PM.
The location is the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville,
CA.

Respectfully submitted, 

Kelsey Siemer 
District Manager 

APPROVED: 
Jesse Claypool, RCD Board 
Chairperson 

DATE: 12/7//2023 



PUBLIC NOTICE
Closed Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 11/14/2023 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, November 16th, 2023
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

MEETING MINUTES
*votes taken via role call*

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE
ACTION ON ANY OF THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION,
INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE
CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED
ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL

Board member Jesse Claypool called the meeting to order at 6:00PM, and a quorum was noted.

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Board member Wayne Langston made a motion to approve the agenda, Board member Robin Hanson
seconded, and the motion passed. All.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT - NONE

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the
public is permitted to make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question
regarding matters related to the District. Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a
maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


IV. ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION - 6:02PM

A. EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE DISCUSSION. Title: Deputy Watermaster, with respect to
every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 54957(b)(1).

Held. No reportable action.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

V. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION - 8:23PM

:
VIII. ADJOURNMENT – 8:23PM

The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be December 7th, 2023, at 3:30 PM.
The location is the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville,
CA.

Respectfully Submitted,
APPROVED: _________________________________

Jesse Claypool, RCD Board Chairperson

DATE: 10/26/2023
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



HLVRCD-LFSC Cooperative Agreement – North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project CEQA 1 
 

North Susanville Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) 
Fuel Treatments Project CEQA 
Cooperative Agreement Between 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District (HLVRCD) 
& 

Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. (LFSC) 

December 2023 
 

Project Identification: 

This agreement is for the Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District (HLVRCD) to serve as the 
lead agency, in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15051 (b) (1), for the proposed North Susanville 
Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Fuel Treatments Project. 
 
HLVRCD and LFSC Responsibilities: 

Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc, (LFSC) will prepare the necessary documentation for meeting the goal of full 
compliance under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), and all CEQA process 
documentation for the North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project. HLVRCD will review, organize, file 
and adopt all necessary documentation in compliance with CEQA Guidelines. All products will be 
delivered in accordance with the attached Standard Clauses (Exhibit A).    
  
Duration of Contract: 

The duration of this Contract will extend from December 7, 2023 through February 15, 2024.  
 
Project Managers: 

The project manager for Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. is Cade Mohler.  Project manager for the HLVRCD 
is Kelsey Marks.  
 
Method of Payment: 

Payment will be for CEQA County Clerk Processing fee of $2,916.75 plus $3,000 for RCD staff time, not 
to exceed $5,916.75.  
 
Standard Provisions: 

Exhibit A, containing standard provisions are included below and by this reference incorporated herein.  
  
Execution: 

Honey Lake Valley RCD 
  
  
__________________________________________  _______________   68-0003580    
Mr. Jesse Claypool, RCD Chairman      Date      Tax ID#  
 
Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc.  
  
  
__________________________________________   _______________  
Mr. Cade Mohler, Managing Director       Date  



HLVRCD-LFSC Cooperative Agreement – North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project CEQA 2 
 

Standard Clauses  
Exhibit A  
  
Worker's Compensation Clause  
  
Vendor agrees to comply with provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code which requires 
every employer to be insured against liability for workers' compensation or to undertake self-insurance in 
accordance with the provisions of that Code, before commencing the performance of the work under this 
Contract.  Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. will make its contractors and subcontractors aware of this 
provision and determine that they have complied with it before commencing work on the project.  
Volunteer laborers are exempt from the worker's compensation provision of the California Labor Code.  
  
National Labor Relations Board Clause  
  
In accordance with Public Contract Code Section 10296, Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. declares under 
penalty of perjury that no more than one final, unappealable finding of contempt of court by a federal court 
has been issued against the Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. within the immediately preceding two-year 
period because of Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc.'s failure to comply with an order of a federal court which 
orders Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. to comply with an order of the National Labor Relations Board.  
  
Nondiscrimination Clause  
  
During the performance of this Contract, Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc., its contractors, and subcontractors 
shall not deny the Contract's benefit to any person on the basis of religion, color, ethnic group identification, 
sex, age, physical or mental disability, nor shall they discriminate unlawfully against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, 
mental disability, medical condition, marital status, age (over 40), or sex.  Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. 
shall insure that the evaluation and treatment of employees and applicants for employment are free of such 
discrimination.  Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc., its contractor, and subcontractor shall comply with the 
provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code Section 12900 et seq.) and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder (California Administrative Code, Title 2 Sections 7285.0 et seq.), the 
provisions of Article 9.5, Chapter 1, Part 1, Division 3, Title 2 of the Government Code ( Government Code 
Section 11135-11139.5), and the regulations or standards adopted by the awarding State agency to 
implement such article.  
  
Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc., its contractors, and subcontractors shall give written notice of their 
obligations under this clause to labor organizations with which they have a collective bargaining or other 
agreement.  
  
Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. shall include the nondiscrimination and compliance provision of this clause 
in all subcontracts to perform work under the Contract.  
  
Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc., its contractors, and subcontractors shall permit access by representatives of 
the Department of Fair Employment and Housing and the awarding State agency, upon reasonable notice, 
at any time during the normal business hours, but in no case less than 24 hours notice, to such of its books, 
records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as said Department or Agency shall require 
to ascertain compliance with this clause.  The Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc.'s signature on this contract 
shall constitute a certification under the penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 
Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. has, unless exempted, complied with the nondiscrimination program 
requirements of Government Code Section 12990 and Title 2, California Code of Regulations Section 
8103.  



HLVRCD-LFSC Cooperative Agreement – North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project CEQA 3 
 

Hold Harmless  
  
The Vendor and Landowner agree to mutually save harmless, Landowners and Vendor, their agents or 
employees and to hold the same free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, damages, losses, 
costs, expenses or liability due or incident to, either in whole or in part, and whether directly or indirectly, 
related to the project resulting from any and all contractors, subcontractors, materialmen, laborers and any 
other person, firm or corporation furnishing or supplying work, services, materials or supplies in 
connection with the performance of this contract, and from any and all claims and losses accruing or 
resulting to any person, firm or corporation who may be injured or damaged by the Landowner or Vendor in 
the performance of this contract, except all claims due to willful negligence or fraud.  The hold harmless 
damages shall include damages from floods, fires or other Acts of Nature, as well as, any upstream or 
downstream effects.  
  
Compliance With Laws, Regulations, Permit Requirements 
  
The Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. shall at all times comply with, and require its contractors and 
subcontractors to comply with, all applicable federal and State laws, rules and regulations, permit and all 
applicable local ordinances, specifically including but not limited to environmental, procurement and safety 
laws, rules, regulations, permits and ordinances.    
  
Successors and Assigns 
  
This Contract and all of its provisions shall apply to and bind the successors and assigns of the parties 
hereto.  No assignment or transfer of this Contract or any part hereof, rights hereunder or interest herein by 
the Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. shall be valid unless and until it is approved by the Landowners and made 
subject to such reasonable terms and conditions as the Landowners may impose.  
  
Audit Requirement 
  
Pursuant to Government Code Section 10532, the contracting parties shall be subject to the examination 
and audit of the State and the State Auditor General for a period of three years after final payment under this 
Contract with respect to all matters connected with the performance of this Contract, including but not 
limited to the cost of administering this Contract.  All records of the Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. shall be 
preserved for this purpose for at least three years after completion of the project.  
  
Remedies Not Exclusive 
  
The use by either party of any remedy specified herein for the enforcement of this Contract is not exclusive 
and shall not deprive the party using such remedy of, or limit the application of, any other remedy provided 
by law.  
  
Amendments 
  
This Contract may be amended at any time by mutual agreement of the parties, except insofar as any 
proposed amendments are in any way contrary to applicable law.  Requests by the Lassen Fire Safe 
Council, Inc. for amendments must be in writing stating the amendment request and the reason for the 
request.  
  
Waiver of Rights 
  
It is the intention of the parties hereto that from time to time either party may waive any of its rights under 
this Contract unless contrary to law.  Any waiver by either party hereto of rights arising in connection with 
this Contract shall not be deemed to be a waiver with respect to any other rights or matters.  



HLVRCD-LFSC Cooperative Agreement – North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project CEQA 4 
 

  
Notices 
  
All notices that are required either expressly or by implication to be given by one party to the other under 
this Contract shall be signed for the Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. and for the Landowners by such officers 
as from time to time may be authorized in writing to so act.  All such notices shall be deemed to have been 
given if delivered personally or if enclosed in a properly addressed, postage paid envelope and deposited in 
a United States Post Office for delivery by registered or certified mail.  
 
Invoicing  
 
Payment for services and work under this contract shall be made by LFSC for those costs that are in 
compliance with the cost principles of SNC 1275 – Thompson Peak Initiative Planning Grant. 
 
Invoices for work completed shall contain the following to be considered for payment by LFSC: 
a) Invoice: 
i. Project Identifier. The Grant name, agreement number, or abbreviated agreement number (1275); 
ii. Name, address and phone number of company or individual submitting the invoice; 
iii. Date of the invoice; 
iv. Description of services performed in direct support of contracted activity  
v. Time period of services performed (start and end date); 
vi. Costs for services (rate per unit performed); 
vii. Total amount due; 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration 

for the proposed 

North Susanville WUI Fuels Treatment Project 

Lassen County, California 
 

 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

Lassen County, CA  
 

December 2023  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

ii 

 

Contents 
MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION ................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction and Regulatory Context ........................................................................................................ 1 

Stage of CEQA Document Development ................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Regulatory Guidance .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Purpose of the Initial Study ........................................................................................................................ 2 

Project Description and Environmental Setting ........................................................................................ 3 

Project Location .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Background and Need for the Project ........................................................................................................ 3 

Project Objectives ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Project Start Date ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

Project Description ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

Environmental Setting of the Project Region ............................................................................................. 8 

Description of the Local Environment ....................................................................................................... 9 

Current Land Use and Previous Impacts .................................................................................................... 9 

Environmental Permits ............................................................................................................................. 12 

Mitigation Measures ................................................................................................................................. 12 

Summary of Findings ............................................................................................................................... 16 

Initial Study-Environmental Checklist ......................................................................................................... 17 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected ............................................................................................ 17 

Determination ............................................................................................................................................. 17 

Environmental Checklist and Discussion ................................................................................................. 18 

Aesthetics ................................................................................................................................................. 18 

Agricultural Resources ............................................................................................................................. 19 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................................................ 20 

Biological Resources ................................................................................................................................ 21 

Cultural Resources .................................................................................................................................... 37 

Energy ....................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Geology and Soils ..................................................................................................................................... 39 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions ...................................................................................................................... 40 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials ............................................................................................................ 43 

Hydrology and Water Quality .................................................................................................................. 44 

Land Use and Planning ............................................................................................................................. 47 

Mineral Resources .................................................................................................................................... 48 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

iii 

 

Noise ......................................................................................................................................................... 48 

Population and Housing ........................................................................................................................... 49 

Public Services ......................................................................................................................................... 49 

Recreation ................................................................................................................................................. 51 

Transportation ........................................................................................................................................... 51 

Tribal Cultural Resources ......................................................................................................................... 52 

Utilities and Service Systems ................................................................................................................... 54 

Wildfire ..................................................................................................................................................... 55 

Mandatory Findings of Significance ........................................................................................................ 57 

Appendix A ...................................................................................................................................................... 59 

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan ............................................................................................. 59 

Potentially Significant Effects and Mitigation Measures ......................................................................... 59 

PREPARERS OF THIS DOCUMENT ............................................................................................................ 65 

EXPERTS CONSULTED ................................................................................................................................ 66 

REFERENCES CITED .................................................................................................................................... 69 

Figures: 

Figure 1: Project Vicinity……………………………………………………………………………………..10 

Figure 2: Project Location…………………………………………………………………………………….11 

 

Tables: 

Table 1: Biological Assessment – Botany……………………………………………………………………24 

Table 2: Biological Assessment – Wildlife…………………………………………………………………..27 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

1 

 

MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

Introduction and Regulatory Context 

STAGE OF CEQA DOCUMENT DEVELOPMENT 

  Administrative Draft. This California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) document is in 

preparation by Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District (HLVRCD) staff. 

 
  Public Document.  This completed CEQA document has been filed by the Honey Lake 

Valley Resource Conservation Distinct (HLV RCD) at the State Clearinghouse on 

December 8, 2023, and is being circulated for a 30-day state agency and public review 

period. The review period ends on January 7, 2024. 

 
  Final CEQA Document.  This final CEQA document contains the changes made by the 

RCD following consideration of comments received during the public and agency review 

period. The CEQA administrative record supporting this document is on file, and available 

for review, at Honey Lake Valley RCD, 170 Russell Ave., Susanville, CA 96130. 

INTRODUCTION 

This initial study-mitigated negative declaration (IS-MND) describes the environmental impact 

analysis conducted for the proposed project. This document was prepared by HLVRCD staff 

utilizing information gathered from a number of sources including research, field review of the 

proposed project area and consultation with environmental planners and other experts on staff at 

other public agencies. Pursuant to § 21082.1 of CEQA, the lead agency, HLVRCD, has prepared, 

reviewed, and analyzed the IS-MND and declares that the statements made in this document reflect 

HLVRCD’s independent judgment as lead agency pursuant to CEQA. HLVRCD further finds that 

the proposed project, which includes revised activities and mitigation measures designed to 

minimize environmental impacts, will not result in a significant effect on the environment. 

REGULATORY GUIDANCE 

This IS-MND has been prepared by HLVRCD to evaluate potential environmental effects that 

could result following approval and implementation of the proposed project. This document has 

been prepared in accordance with current CEQA Statutes (Public Resources Code §21000 et seq.) 

and current CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations [CCR] §15000 et seq.) 

 

An initial study is prepared by a lead agency to determine if a project may have a significant effect 

on the environment (14 CCR § 15063(a)), and thus, to determine the appropriate environmental 

document.  In accordance with CEQA Guidelines §15070, a “public agency shall prepare…a 

proposed negative declaration or mitigated negative declaration…when: (a) The initial study shows 

that there is no substantial evidence…that the project may have a significant impact upon the 

environment, or (b) The initial study identifies potentially significant effects but revisions to the 

project plans or proposal are agreed to by the applicant and such revisions will reduce potentially 

significant effects to a less-than-significant level.”  In this circumstance, the lead agency prepares a 

written statement describing its reasons for concluding that the proposed project will not have a 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

2 

 

significant effect on the environment and, therefore, does not require the preparation of an 

environmental impact report.  This IS-MND conforms to these requirements and to the content 

requirements of CEQA Guidelines § 15071.  

PURPOSE OF THE INITIAL STUDY 

The purpose of this IS-MND is to present to the public and reviewing agencies the environmental 

consequences of implementing the proposed project and to describe the adjustments made to the 

project to avoid significant effects or reduce them to a less-than-significant level. This disclosure 

document is being made available to the public and reviewing agencies for review and comment.  

The IS-MND is being circulated for public and state agency review and comment for a review 

period of 30 days as indicated on the Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration 

(NOI).  The 30-day public review period for this project begins on December 8, 2023 and ends on 

January 7, 2024. 

 

The requirements for providing an NOI are found in CEQA Guidelines §15072. These guidelines 

require HLVRCD to notify the general public by providing the NOI to the county clerk for posting, 

sending the NOI to those who have requested it, and utilizing at least one of the following three 

procedures: 

 

 Publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the area affected by the proposed project, 

 Posting the NOI on and off site in the area where the project is to be located, or 

 Direct mailing to the owners and occupants of property contiguous to the project. 

 

HLVRCD has elected to utilize posting the NOI on and off site in the area where the project is to be 

located, the second of the three notification options.  An electronic version of the NOI and the 

CEQA document will be made available for review for the entire 30-day review period through 

their posting at: https://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us/  

 

If submitted prior to the close of public comment, views and comments are welcomed from 

reviewing agencies or any member of the public on how the proposed project may affect the 

environment. Written comments must be postmarked or submitted on or prior to the date the public 

review period will close (as indicated on the NOI) for HLVRCD’s consideration. Written comments 

may also be submitted via email (using the email address that appears below), but comments sent 

via email must also be received on or prior to the close of the 30-day public comment period.   

Comments should be addressed to: 

 

Kelsey Siemer, Distinct Manager 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7271 

kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us  

 

After comments are received from the public and reviewing agencies, HLVRCD will consider those 

comments and may (1) adopt the mitigated negative declaration and approve the proposed project; 

(2) undertake additional environmental studies; or (3) abandon the project. 

https://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us/
mailto:kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

3 

 

Project Description and Environmental Setting 

PROJECT LOCATION 

The project setting includes the north half of the City of Susanville in Lassen County, California, as 

well as forested and Great Basin scrub habitats with scattered residences north of Susanville within 

the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI), the zone of transition between unoccupied land and human 

development. The WUI is the zone where structures and other human development meet or 

intermingle with undeveloped wildland and vegetative fuels. remote and rural, with a few homes or 

very little public infrastructure visible from most of the project area.  The +/- 67,500-acre project 

location includes portions of the Eagle Drainage, Snow Storm Mountain, and Susan River 

Hydrologic Areas within the Susanville Hydrologic Unit (MDBM, Township 29N, Range 11E, 

Sections 2-4; T30N, R11E, Sections 1-18, 20-29, 32-36; T30N, R12E, Sections 1-22, 28-33; T31N, 

R10E, Sections 13-14, 23-25, 36; T31N, R11E, Sections 1-5, 7-36; T31N, R12E, Sections 16-36). 

The project area includes suburbs of Susanville, scattered residential communities, non-industrial 

and industrial timberlands, Tribal lands held in Trust for the Susanville Indian Rancheria, and 

public lands managed by the Lassen National Forest, Bureau of Land Management – Eagle Lake 

Field Office, the County of Lassen, and the City of Susanville. Lands within the project area are 

used for full and part time residence, recreation, timber management, agriculture, wildlife habitat, 

and watershed protection. 

BACKGROUND AND NEED FOR THE PROJECT 

The project is a fuels reduction and ecological enhancement effort situated within the WUI north of 

the City. The majority of the project area consists of overstocked forest stands, or stands where 

brush has established, creating a wildfire risk. Of the +/-57,300 acres of the project area that are 

located within the State Response Area (SRA), 80% are classified as “Very High Fire Hazard 

Severity” (45,666 ac.), and an additional 8% are classified as “High Fire Hazard Severity” (4,330 

ac.). This project will implement fuel reduction activities to improve the protection of homes, 

communities and public and private lands from fire while protecting environmental, natural and 

cultural resources. Dominant vegetation within the project area includes annual grasslands, black 

oak, mixed conifer-hardwood forest, Sierra mixed-conifer forest, eastside pine, and scrub 

communities dominated by sagebrush, bitterbrush, and mountain mahogany. The project will reduce 

fuel loads in Eastside Pine (EPN), Sierra Mixed Conifer (SMC), Montane Hardwood Conifer 

(MHC), and Sagebrush (SGB) habitats Target fuels are brush, and small and suppressed trees. The 

project also includes the removal of dead, dying and/or hazard trees adjacent to homes that will 

reduce wildfire risk in the home ignition zone and to utility infrastructure. Portions of the project 

area, not including the City of Susanville, are relatively remote, and accessible only by private 

roads. Portions of the project area are fairly steep with the majority of the project area having mild 

slope. The project objectives are: 

1. To enhance ecological health by re-establishing a fine-grain mosaic of habitats and 

successional stages, promoting the resiliency of oak woodlands, conifer stands, and 

shrub communities to fire and climate change, and encouraging native species diversity; 

2. To implement fuel reduction that will improve public safety for local communities 

including Susanville, Lake Forest, and Willow Creek; and 

3. To provide for the safe and permanent re-introduction of prescribed and cultural fire as a 

stewardship tool.  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

4 

 

 

To accomplish these objectives, the applicant proposes to reduce scrub continuity and density of 

small diameter trees through a variety of management techniques to promote a diverse age-class 

mosaic and reduce wildfire related risks to oak woodlands, conifer forests, and shrub communities. 

The project applicant is the Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc.(LFSC), a grass-roots, community-led 

non-profit organization that mobilizes residents to protect their homes, communities, and 

environments from catastrophic wildfire. The LFSC is working in partnership with Honey Lake 

Valley RCD, Susanville Indian Rancheria, Sierra Pacific Industries, W.M. Beaty, and residents 

living within the Susanville WUI. 

PROJECT OBJECTIVES 

The project objective is to remove enough encroaching brush and small diameter trees to achieve a 

healthy and resilient landscape reflected in a fine grain mosaic of shrubs interspersed with 

grasslands, oak woodlands, and conifer forests that is reflective of traditional knowledge and 

historic photographs of this area.  It is intended that facilitating this vegetation composition and 

structure will achieve a dynamic ecological community that is fire resistant and adaptive to future 

environmental change (i.e., warmer and drier conditions or climate extremes).  It is believed that 

this approach will provide improved water yield and quality, provide diverse habitat including at 

springs and seeps, reduce rates of spread for future wildfires, and provide fire protection for the 

communities of Susanville, Lake Forest, and Willow Creek.  After the project, desired conditions 

will be maintained with ecologically and culturally appropriate management techniques, including 

the use of broadcast burning in such a way as to promote native species and achieve numerous 

ecocultural objectives. 

PROJECT START DATE 

Summer 2024 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The +/- 67,505-acre fuel reduction and forest/woodland health improvement project would tie in to 

other LFSC an HLVRCD projects west and south of the City of Susanville, eventually creating a 

landscape-scale defensible zone around the City of Susanville.  This project would create a 

defensible zone west and north of the City of Susanville and represents one of the only areas around 

the City of Susanville that has not been impacted by recent wildfires, including the Hog Fire (2020), 

Sheep Fire (2020), and the Dixie Fire (2021). This would create a defensible space that could be 

used to fight wildfire moving from the City of Susanville north toward wildlands, or wildfire 

moving toward communities from the north.  

 

The goals of the project include reducing threats to communities from large, severe wildfires by 

clearing vegetation from critical locations to reduce wildfire intensity and rate of spread on the 

landscape. The project would reduce fuels, improve access and safety for firefighting personnel, and 

improve forest/woodland health using a variety of techniques, including: mechanical treatments, 

mastication, hand treatments, pile burning, broadcast burning, emergent brush treatments, and 

reforestation of areas within the project area impacted by past fires.  Means of shrub and small tree 

removal -- would be selected based on careful analysis of current site conditions including weather, 

time of year, and the presence of sensitive cultural or biological resources, as described in this 

document.  This includes hazard and overstocked tree removal within communities; implementation 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

5 

 

of landscape-scale fuel treatments around and near communities; the expansion of existing fuel 

breaks and establishment of new fuel break; protection of critical infrastructure; and improve 

ingress and egress along roads used by the public and used during fire suppression activities. 

Usually, more than one tool/technique would be present on site at a time so that operations can be 

carefully optimized for site conditions. Management prescriptions for these techniques are 

described below: 

 

Mechanical Treatments 

Mechanical treatments will be used to thin forest stands, reduce fuel loading, reduce ladder fuels 

and maintain roads. Mechanical treatments can be very efficient for covering the ground and 

manipulating large vegetation. Much of the mechanical thinning activity and removal of trees >11” 

dbh (biomass) will be conducted under California Forest Practice Rules Exemptions, including: 

10% Dead and Dying exemptions (§1038.b); Structure Protection exemptions (§1038.c), 

Substantially damaged timberland exemptions (§1038.d); Oak Woodland Restoration exemptions 

(§1038.e), and Forest Fire Prevention exemptions (§1038.f). 

 

Mastication 

Mastication involves the pulverization of brush, slash, and small trees to improve forest health and 

redistribute understory fuels in order to maintain an average spacing of trees of 17’ by 17’ (150 trees 

per acre).  Trees that are over 18” in height and less than 8” diameter at breast height (dbh) will be 

treated.  Brush greater than 18” in height will be treated.  Snags less than 12” dbh will be treated, 

unless they show signs of use by wildlife or are marked with an “L”, “W”, or tag identifying them as a 

“Wildlife Tree”.  Woody debris less than 12” diameter which extends greater than 12” from the 

ground will be treated.  Areas with concentrations of activity fuels (i.e. logging slash) will be treated.  

Treated materials will not extend greater than 12” from the ground.  

 

Good form should be considered when selecting leave trees in order to reduce the number of trees 

with crooks, doglegs, multiple tops, or other defects.  Trees exhibiting poor vigor, mechanical 

damage, or disease and or insect infestation shall not be retained unless they are the best available 

tree.  Trees that have a likelihood of creating a “ladder” for fire to move into the crowns of overstory 

trees have a lower priority as leave trees. Trees that do not exceed the maximum size and that are 

within 10’ of roads that have the potential to affect vehicular traffic use or to allow a fire to spread 

across the road shall be treated.  Leave trees will be prioritized in the following order: 1) Black oak; 2) 

incense cedar; 3) Douglas fir; 4)sugar pine; 5) ponderosa pine; and 6) white fir. 

 

Hand Treatments 

Hand treatment tools may include but are not limited to chainsaw, trimmer, pole saw, loppers, 

shovel and pick, etc.  These may not be the most efficient tools for landscape scale modifications, 

but they are best for small-scale treatments in areas with sensitive resources. 

 

Hand treatments will be allowed within the WLPZ and other sensitive areas as they cause the least 

amount of disturbance to the ground and as vegetation within this zone is also in need of 

management within the project area. 

 

On steep slopes, or where machine access is impractical, fuels would be reduced by hand crews. 

Treated fuels will be chipped, hauled away and/or piled for later pile-burning when conditions are 

optimal. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

6 

 

Brush removal for prescribed burns would be primarily within a 50-100-foot buffer of private roads 

within the project area, and would taper off to a lighter prescription beyond the buffer. The lighter 

prescription would widen existing openings, interrupt fuels continuity to slow fire spread, and 

reduce ladder fuels to protect black oak and conifer crowns from ignition, yet still maintain a 

desirable spatial and biological diversity of shrub species.     

 

Prescribed Fire (Pile burning and broadcast burning) 

Prescribed fire is a very cost and time efficient management tool. The native species within the 

project boundary have all evolved with and are adapted to frequent fire intervals.  Using low 

intensity, more frequent prescribed fires allows native species to thrive and can also reduce invasive 

species populations.  Prescribed burning, in this project, will be used to reduce the fuel load of 

ground fuels, coarse woody debris, as well as a portion of the above ground biomass. The purpose 

of the fire is to reduce the risk of large damaging fires by creating conditions that increase 

effectiveness of fire suppression.  

 

Pile burning may be used in conjunction with mechanical and hand treatments to reduce ground fuel 

loading.  When vertical continuity is reduced by adding fuels to the horizontal fuel loads, only the 

crowning index is reduced but not the risk of high severity fire. Pile burning is used to eliminate 

overstocked vegetation from the natural system and thus increase fire resilience. 

 

Through prescribed fire, land managers can have a say in the timing and intensity of the fire. Land 

managers can also lessen the impacts or provide benefits for other environmental resources.  Fire 

hazard reduction may be an objective of prescribed fire; however, there are other objectives such as 

wildlife habitat improvement, range improvement, enhancement of the project areas appearance, 

and improved safety by reducing the amount of dead and dying vegetation.  If a wildfire does 

happen to enter an area that was treated, the wildfire may be contained sooner with reduced area 

burned at high intensity. The reduced number of acres or fire intensity will have benefits to other 

resource, including environmental resources, public health, and public and firefighter safety. 

 

All prescribed fires will be subject to local and state regulation to maintain air quality and reduce 

fire escape risk. Prescribed burning is regulated by the Lassen County Air Pollution Control District 

(LCAPCD) in compliance with the state smoke management plan, Title 17. Prescribed burn projects 

must submit a Smoke Management Plan to LCAPCD for review and approval.  The plan is 

developed to minimize air quality impacts of the project.  Burning is done on approved burn days as 

determined by LCAPCD.  This process ensures that there are no significant smoke impacts to public 

health from the project. 

 

The desired fire intensity is low to moderate. A prescribed burn plan will be developed for 

prescribed fires within the project area prior to implementation that outlines the parameters (timing, 

weather, fuel moisture, etc.) necessary to implement the project to ensure that the fire remains low 

to moderate intensity and does not escape the project perimeter. In addition the plan will identify 

protocols should the fire escape.  All prescribed fire activities carry a risk of fire escape, but the 

project design has reduced this risk below a significant level. By conducting burns in the off-season 

and with highly trained fire professionals (CAL FIRE) on site, the project reduces the risk of 

wildfire below the level of risk associated with the no-project alternative.  Spotting outside of fire 

lines should not be a problem with correct firing methods and weather patterns as prescribed in the 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

7 

 

burn plan. By reducing fuels while leaving slope and other factors unchanged, the project will 

reduce, not exacerbate the effects of any future wildfire. 

 

Emergent Brush Treatments 

Emergent brush treatments using herbicides will follow all state rules and regulations and product 

labeling.  Herbicides may be used to control species that are unresponsive to other treatments, to 

reduce secondary treatments, and/or for site preparation for tree establishment in areas impacted by 

wildfire. Herbicide treatments will not occur within the WLPZ. Herbicides that may be used include 

glyphosate, aminopyralid, and 2-4D. 

 

After brushflelds and dense tree stands are cleared, native and non-native woody species 

aggressively reoccupy the site, regardless of the method of initial brush removal. The regrowth is 

typically from both old, vigorously sprouting plants and new dense stands of small seedlings, but in 

certain situations either seedlings or sprouts alone make up most of the regrowth. Control of this 

brush regrowth has been the most persistent and perplexing problem in converting dense stands of 

small diameter, unhealthy trees and shrubs that are subject to stand replacing and dangerous fire 

conditions to productive timber stands that can withstand a low to medium intensity fire and 

provide increased wildfire protection to communities. Sprouts from previously dormant buds on 

root crowns, stems, or roots left after initial brush removal have been most difficult to control.  

Herbicides have been shown to be an efficient cost-effective method of meeting this objective. 

The following alternatives were considered, in addition to the one selected, and were disregarded 

for the following reasons: 

1. Do Nothing.  Loss of vegetation control investments, loss of property values due to 

associated fire hazard, and watershed impacts from anticipated wildfire. 

2. Mechanical or Manual Treatment.  Mechanical and manual treatments alone are not cost 

effective and would require multiple re-entries to re-treat the re-sprouting brush.  This 

method would result in scarification of additional weed seeds that would result in ongoing 

germinate brush. 

3. Biological Treatment.  There is no known effective biological treatment.  Cattle and sheep 

are grazers and not browsers and would not effectively forage on the target brush species.  

Goats are browsers and could be used to forage on the target brush species; however, the 

brush would re-sprout resulting in the need for ongoing treatments.  There are very few goat 

herds available for brush control in the region.  Goats can be very selective on which brush 

species they will browse. 

4. Other Herbicides.  Of the herbicides registered for this use, these were determined to be the 

most appropriate when considering cost-effectiveness and safety to desirable crop trees and 

the environment. 

All vegetation control shall be with the use of herbicides.  The landowner does not have any other 

cost-effective alternative to consider. 

Erosion Control and Road Maintenance 

Erosion control may include reseeding with native seed for stabilization of degraded areas and 

installation of brow logs to trap sediment from entering waterways. Erosion control will be installed 

on disturbed areas and all roads used for hauling and yarding per Forest Practice Rules (14 CCR 

§934 and §943). 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

8 

 

Road maintenance is necessary as management activities take place and equipment is moved 

around. Road maintenance will include maintaining current access roads and existing private 

seasonal roads for equipment and personnel access. These roads will likely need some work for 

hydrologic disconnect and surface grading following management activities and prior to the wet 

season.  Existing private seasonal roads would not be used during saturated conditions and water 

barred prior to the winter season and/or after the use of these roads for this project. This road 

maintenance and improvement will assist wildfire fire fighting personnel with safe ingress and 

egress should a wildfire occur in the area.  Temporary watercourse crossings may be required on 

some Class I and II watercourses within the project area. Should a temporary watercourse crossing 

be required, project proponents will consult with the Water Board and CDFW to obtain the 

necessary permits. 

 

Tree Planting 

Bare root/containerized seedlings from the appropriate seed zone (732, 760, and 771) will be hand 

planted when soils are moist, not saturated or dry in areas that require increased stocking due to past 

wildfires and/or disturbance. Variable density silviculture prescriptions will be used to promote a 

mixture of tree sizes and structural diversity throughout the project area. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING OF THE PROJECT REGION 

The project area is located in a region where the Southern Cascades Mountain Range, Northern 

Sierra Nevada Mountain Range, Modoc Plateau, and Great Basin ecoregions merge. These regions 

are the ancestral home of the Maidu, Northern Paiute, Pit River, and Washoe Tribes and represented 

today by several bands within the county and surrounding areas.  Members of those bands continue 

to maintain a relationship with this landscape as a place of residence, ceremony, harvesting, 

stewardship, and other traditional activities. The region has cold winters, and hot summers with 

variability in annual precipitation as you move from mountainous forested regions on the west 

toward the dry, high desert to the east. Within the project area average annual precipitation 

decreases from 25-30 inches on the west side of the project area, to 10-15 inches on the east side of 

the project area. The wet season produces vegetation growth that may be subject to seasonal 

drought, and prone to fire.  California native plants have evolved with relatively frequent fires, and 

in many cases require fire or fire byproducts to remain healthy or to reproduce.  This fire history 

includes lightning and anthropogenic sources, and it is certainly true for the project area.  Frequent 

burning by local Indigenous peoples created a landscape that was fire-maintained by low to 

moderate intensity fires that self regulated. Forest/Woodland conditions were historically open with 

grass and herbaceous undergrowth and scattered shrubs, which resulted in a fire resistant and 

resilient landscape.  While fire suppression policies have been in place for more than a century, 

there is a history of wildfires and prescribed burns within the project area.  The most recent large 

fire adjacent to the project area include the Hog Fire (2020), the Sheep Fire (2020), both caused by 

lightning, and the Dixie Fire (2021), cause by faulty powerlines.  These fires had variable effects on 

vegetation within the landscape, with the majority burning at high severity. 

 

The goal of this project is to restore habitats within the project area to more historic conditions, 

through a variety of integrated management techniques.  Current initiatives are focused on strategic 

fuels reduction areas that will slow or halt fire movement within the North Susanville WUI to 

minimize risk to the surrounding communities.  The purpose of this CEQA evaluation is to analyze 

the potential environmental impacts of a proposed fuel reduction and forest/woodland health 

improvement project. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

9 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE LOCAL ENVIRONMENT 

The project area contains portions of the following watersheds: Cheney Creek; Mapes Spring; Piute 

Creek; South side of Antelope Mountain; Southwest side of Eagle Lake; Willow Creek Valley. 

Eagle Lake borders the northwest corner of the project area. The Susan River runs through the 

southern portion of the project area. Piute Creek and Willow Creek are within the project area and 

flow into the Susan River. Soils are primarily loams ranging from fine to cobbly with both shallow 

and deep soils, and a variety of properties and qualities. The primary habitats within the project area 

based on the California Fish and Wildlife Department (CDFW) California Wildlife Habitat 

Relationship System (CWHR): Eastside Pine (EPN), Sierra Mixed Conifer (SMC), Montane 

Hardwood Conifer (MHC), Montane Riparian, Sagebrush (SGB), and Annual Grasslands (ASG). 

Conifer tree species include Ponderosa/Jeffery pine, Sugar pine, Douglas fir, incense cedar, and 

white fir.  Hardwoods include Black oak.. Understory vegetation is mostly scattered woody shrubs 

including manzanita, ceanothus, .bitterbrush, sagebrush, and mountain mahogany. The ground 

cover is a diverse mix of annual and perennial grasses and forbs. Elevations range from 4,250 feet 

on the south end of the project area around the City of Susanville, and 7,250 feet near Roop 

Mountain on the west side of the project.  

CURRENT LAND USE AND PREVIOUS IMPACTS 

Until the late nineteenth century, the site was primarily used by Indigenous peoples as part of their 

daily lives.  They maintained open, sunny mixed conifer/oak woodland conditions with regular, 

low-intensity fire.  Brush communities were maintained in a fine grain mosaic interspersed with 

grasses and forbs.  Collectively, these fire maintained areas achieved numerous ecocultural 

objectives including high-quality food, medicine, and fiber.  The tending to these places was 

disrupted by American settlement.  In the late 1800s and 1900s, the site was considered valuable 

timberland, as well as cattle and sheep ranching land. The project area is now occupied by a variety 

of entities including private residences, non-industrial and industrial timberlands, Tribal lands held 

in Trust for the Susanville Indian Rancheria, and public lands managed by the Lassen National 

Forest, Bureau of Land Management – Eagle Lake Field Office, the County of Lassen, and the City 

of Susanville. Lands within the project area are used for full and part time residence, recreation, 

timber management, agriculture, wildlife habitat, and watershed protection. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

10 

 

 
Figure 1: North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project Vicinity 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

11 

 

 
Figure 2: North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project Location. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

12 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITS 

The proposed project will require the following environmental permits and will be required to 

comply with the following state regulations: 

 

 Smoke Management Plan(s) approved by Lassen County Air Quality Management District 

 Prescribed Burn Plan(s) approved by project proponents and landowners. 

 Lake and Streambed Alteration Agreements approved by CA Dept. of Fish and Game 

MITIGATION MEASURES 

The following 16 mitigation measures will be implemented to avoid or minimize environmental 

impacts. Implementation of these mitigation measures will reduce the environmental impacts of the 

proposed project to a less than significant level.  

 

Mitigation Measure AGR – 1: Tree protection – Pile burning and broadcast fire: Pile burning and 

broadcast burning shall be conducted in a manner which will not damage residual trees and 

reproduction. Conifer and oak trees will be protected through use of a cool prescription and/or brush 

and duff will be cleared around trees for protection.  Fire will be maintained at a low intensity that 

is not expected to harm mature and legacy trees. 

 

Mitigation Measure AIR-1: Permits: The proposed treatments are not expected to adversely affect 

air quality standards, regional haze, and wilderness air quality related values, because of laws, rules, 

regulations and mitigation measures that would be implemented. Prescribed burning is regulated by 

the Lassen County Air Pollution Control District (LCAPCD) in compliance with the state smoke 

management plan, Title 17. Fire managers are required to meet all air district standards and 

therefore the prescribed burning operations are presumed to conform to the Clean Air Act. 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-1: Botanical Resources:  Special status plants species including 

populations of Alisma gramineum (CNPS rank 2B.2); Botrychium crenulatum (CNPS Rank 2B.2); 

Ranunculus macounii (CNPS Rank 2B.2), and Rhamnus alnifolia (CNPS Rank 2B.2) identified 

during botanical surveys conducted for this project or during project layout will be avoided through 

mapping and/or flagged when appropriate, with the exception of broadcast fire.  

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-2: Riparian Area Protection: Before any riparian vegetation 

removal or work within the bed bank or channel of a stream, creek, or river, project proponents 

will coordinate with the Department to ensure compliance with Section 1600 of the Fish and 

Game Code.  

Mitigation Measure BIO-3: Noxious Weeds: Prevent spread of invasive species with equipment: 

Use contract clauses to require that the activities of contractors are conducted to prevent and 

control the introduction, establishment, and spread of aquatic and terrestrial invasive species. For 

example, where determined to be appropriate, use agreement clauses to require contractors to abide 

by vehicle and equipment cleaning requirements/standards prior to using the vehicle or equipment 

within project area. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-4: Staging areas: Do not stage equipment, materials, or crews in 

areas infested with invasive plant species where there is a risk of spread to areas of low 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

13 

 

infestation. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-5: Protection of Nest Sites: Known nest sites and those discovered 

during project surveys and/or layout will be protected per California Forest Practice Rules §939.2 – 

General Protection of Nest Sites, and §932.3 – Specific Requirements for Protection of Nest Sites. 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-6: Terrestrial and Aquatic Wildlife Resources: Best Management 

Practices (BMPs) will be applied for protecting wildlife and wildlife habitat, including: 

 New wildlife findings: In the event of a verified threatened, endangered or sensitive 

species occurrence prior to or during project implementation, the appropriate limited 

operating periods would apply based on consultation with CDFW. Other mitigations may 

take place as agreed upon in consultation with CDFW. 

 Snags: Retain snags when possible for wildlife habitat.  

 Structure trees: Retain and protect high value wildlife habitat trees (trees with 

multiple tops,  broken tops, rot, cavities, and other formations) that create structure for 

nests and dens. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources: Cultural resources present within 

the project area have not been formally evaluated to determine eligibility for listing on the CRHR. 

For the purposes of this project these cultural resources will be assumed potentially eligible for 

state and federal registers and will be avoided. Project proponents will ensure that cultural 

resources are not adversely affected by ground disturbing activities. If cultural resources cannot be 

avoided and ground disturbance will occur within the recorded site limits than the site(s) will be 

formally evaluated to determine if they meet the regulatory criteria for eligibility to the CRHR.  

Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources:  If a cultural resource 

is discovered within a project area after the project has been approved, the following procedures 

apply:  

 

1. Project activities within 100 feet of the newly discovered cultural resource shall be 

immediately halted. 

2. A qualified professional archaeologist or RPF with CALFIRE Archaeological Training 

Certification shall be immediately notified. 

3. The archaeologist shall evaluate the new discovery and develop appropriate protection 

measures. 

4. The archaeologist shall ensure that the newly discovered site is recorded and its discovery 

and protection measures are documented in the project files. 

5. If the newly discovered site is a Native American Archaeological or Cultural Site, the 

Archaeologist shall notify the appropriate Native American tribal group and the NAHC, if 

appropriate. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-3Encountering Native American Remains: Although unlikely, if 

human remains are encountered, all work must stop in the immediate vicinity of the discovered 

remains and the County Coroner and a qualified archaeologist must be notified immediately so 

that an evaluation can be performed. If the remains are deemed to be Native American and 

prehistoric, the Native American Heritage Commission must be contacted by the Coroner so that a 

“Most Likely Descendant” can be designated and further recommendations regarding treatment of 

the remains is provided. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

14 

 

Mitigation Measure GEO-1: Prescribed fire control line construction: Fire control lines are a 

concern for hydrology and soil quality risks, whether put in by hand or using mechanical means. 

They will be rehabilitated for drainage using best management practices (BMPs). Fire line 

construction should be in accordance with slope restrictions (Mitigation Measure GEO-2) and Water 

Protection BMPs (Mitigation Measure HYD-1).  

Mitigation Measure GEO-2: Slope restrictions: Ground-based equipment would be restricted to 

slopes less than 50 percent.  Flagging, mapping, and meeting with equipment operators would be 

used to keep operators out of areas over 50% slope.  Exceptions may be made for short pitches of 

100 feet slope distance, up to 75 percent slope.  Exposed soils resulting from ground based 

equipment on slopes over 50% slope shall be 90% covered with operational slash or hay/straw to a 

minimum 2” depth prior to the winter period (Nov. 15 – April 1). This will occur after the 

conclusion of each individual operation and prior to each winter period for the life of the Project.      

Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project Best Management Practices (BMPs): Protect water quality 

through the use of best management practices (BMPs) to prevent water quality degradation and to 

meet state water quality objectives relating to non-point sources of pollution. Best management 

practices utilized for this project are procedures and techniques that are incorporated in project 

actions and have been determined by the State of California to be the most effective, practicable 

means of preventing or reducing the amount of pollution generated by nonpoint sources to a level 

compatible with water quality goals. 

Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones (WLPZ) will be classified based on the California Forest 

Practice Rules §936.5 – Procedures for Determining Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones Widths 

and Protective Measures.  WLPZs shall be identified on the ground with flagging prior to 

implementation of treatments.  These zones will be: 

 

Watercourse Classification Slope 0-30% Slope 30-50% Slope >50% 

Class I  75’ 100’ 150’ 

Class II (including all springs with surface water) 50’ 75’ 100’ 

Class III 25’ 50’ 50’ 

 

The standard best management practices for protecting water quality include: 

 Within the WLPZ, at least 50% of the total canopy covering the ground shall be left in a 

well-distributed multi-storied stand configuration composed of a diversity of species similar 

to that found before the start of operations.  The residual overstory canopy shall be 

composed of at least 25% of the existing overstory conifers. 

 No heavy equipment shall operate within the WLPZ except on existing roads and crossings. 

Light weight equipment, including a mini-excavator, mini-chipper, and/or skid steer, may 

operate within the WLPZ when conditions are dry within the WLPZ. Equipment within the 

WLPZ will not turn around within the WLPZ, but will make minimal tracks perpendicular 

to the watercourse.  Any other types of light equipment that are used will not exceed the 

weights of those listed above.  Exposed soils within WLPZ shall be 90% covered with 

operational slash or hay/straw to a minimum 2” depth prior to the winter period (Nov. 15 – 

April 1). This will occur after the conclusion of each individual operation and prior to each 

winter period for the life of the Project.  

 No equipment shall refuel, be cleaned, or lubricated within the WLPZ.  

 Road based equipment being used for project implementation shall not be used during any 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

15 

 

time of the year when soils are saturated and excessive damage can occur as well as the 

potential discharge of sediment to watercourses.  

 There will be no mechanical fireline construction within the WLPZ. 

 No ignitions of broadcast (prescribed) burns would occur within the WLPZ. Broadcast 

burning would be allowed to back burn into the WLPZ, but in order to maintain stream 

temperatures and avoid sediment discharge to Class I and II streams piles and broadcast 

prescribed burns are restricted within the WLPZ  to the following distances from the 

stream: 

 

Watercourse Classification Slope 0-30% Slope 30-50% Slope >50% 

Class I  50-75’ 66-100’ 100-150’ 

Class II (including all springs with surface water) 33-50’ 50-75’ 66-100’ 

 

Mitigation Measure HYD-2 Timber waiver, Proposed activities will abide by the Lahontan 

Regional Water Quality Control Board (LRWQCB) Timber Waiver program, and project 

proponents will consult with the LRWQCB if there are proposed activities that could potentially 

impact water quality. 

 

Mitigation Measure FIRE-1: Prescribed (Rx) burn plan: Mitigation measures will include and be 

dependent upon: 
 Rx burns and pile burns can be scheduled for fall months into spring. Burn days will be 

dependent upon California Air Resources Board (CARB) forecasts, Cal Fire approval and 

will comply with all local and state regulations. 
 Rx broadcast burns will coincide with ecological emergence to promote a heterogeneous 

forest structure, reduce the abundance of invasive and limit impact to desired native 

species. 

 To reduce impacts to surrounding community’s Rx burn timing, planning and 

implementation will all be dictated by smoke management mitigations through CARB.  

 Prescribed burns will be coordinated with other planned burns in the area to avoid 

cumulative impacts to air quality and wildfire safety. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

16 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

This IS-MND has been prepared to assess the project’s potential effects on the environment and an 

appraisal of the significance of those effects.  Based on this IS-MND, it has been determined that 

the proposed project will not have any significant effects on the environment after implementation 

of mitigation measures.  This conclusion is supported by the following findings: 

 

1. The proposed project will have no effect related to Aesthetics, Agriculture Resources, 

Energy, Geology and Soils, Land Use Planning, Mineral Resources, Noise, Population and 

Housing, Public Facilities, Recreation, Tribal Cultural Resources, and Utilities. 

 

2. The proposed project will have a less than significant impact on Greenhouse Gas Emissions, 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials, Transportation, and Wildfire. 

 

3. Mitigation is required to reduce potentially significant impacts related to Air Quality, 

Biological Resources, Cultural Resources, Hydrology and Water Quality, and Tribal 

Cultural Resources. 

 

The Initial Study-Environmental Checklist included in this document discusses the results of 

resource-specific environmental impact analyses that were conducted by the District. This initial 

study revealed that potentially significant environmental effects could result from the proposed 

project. However, project proponents have revised project plans and have developed mitigation 

measures that will eliminate impact or reduce environmental impacts to a less than significant level. 

Honey Lake Valley RCD has found, in consideration of the entire record, that there is no substantial 

evidence that the proposed project as currently revised and mitigated would result in a significant 

effect upon the environment. The IS-MND is therefore the appropriate document for CEQA 

compliance. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

17 

 

INITIAL STUDY-ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST 

The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project involving at 

least one impact that is a potentially significant impact as indicated by the checklist on the 

following pages. 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 
 Aesthetics   Greenhouse Gas Emissions  Public Services 

 Agriculture Resources  Hazards & Hazardous Materials  Recreation 

 Air Quality   Hydrology and Water Quality  Transportation 

 Biological Resources  Land Use and Planning  Tribal Cultural Resources 

 Cultural Resources  Mineral Resources  Utilities and Service Systems 

 Energy  Noise  Wildfire 

 Geology and Soils  Population and Housing  Mandatory Findings of Significance 

Determination 

On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

 
 I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a NEGATIVE 

DECLARATION would be prepared. 

 

 I find that although the proposed project COULD have a significant effect on the environment, there WOULD 

NOT be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to by the 

project proponent.  A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION would be prepared. 

 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a “potentially significant impact” or “potentially significant unless 

mitigated” impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in an earlier 

document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by mitigation measures based on 

the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets.  An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, 

but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 

 I find that although the proposed project COULD have a significant effect on the environment, because all 

potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

REPORT or NEGATIVE DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or 

mitigated pursuant to that earlier ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, 

including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is 

required. 

 

 

 

__________________________________________  __________________ 

Name: Jesse Claypool       Date 

Title: HLVRCD Chairman 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

18 

 

Environmental Checklist and Discussion 

 

AESTHETICS 

a) Except as provided in Public Resources Code 

§ 21099, would the project have a substantial 

adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The combination of fuel and vegetation changes within and surrounding the project area during the 

past century has resulted in a landscape that is less resilient to wildland fire, drought, insects, and 

disease. The lack of management activities has contributed to the current condition. During 

treatment activities and immediately afterward, changes to the visual quality of the landscape may 

be observable.  However, the area will not be 100% cleared through management operations and 

untreated areas will be left to provide textural variety.   

 

b) Except as provided in Public Resources Code § 

21099, would the project substantially damage 

scenic resources, including, but not limited to, 

trees, rock outcroppings, and historic buildings 

within a state scenic highway? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Proposed treatments are intended to improve heterogeneity across the landscape with respect to 

density, species, and reduced fuels and will benefit the visual objectives in the project area. A 

variety of plant communities varying in size, age, and structure provide diversity in the visual 

character of the area. Reducing the possibility of stand replacing fires, disease or insect mortality, 

and improving the resiliency of the vegetation to climate change would improve and maintain the 

aesthetic integrity of the project area. 

 

Reducing the competition between vegetation would enhance the long-term aesthetics by promoting 

healthy stands of conifers, hardwoods, brush, grasslands, and riparian areas.  Effects from the 

proposed activities would only serve to enhance and benefit the resources in the area, including 

visual quality, and reduce the possibility of losing the entire area again to wildfire. The project area 

is not visible from any scenic highway or designated scenic vista point. 

  

c) Except as provided in Public Resources Code 

§ 21099, in non-urbanized areas, would the 

project substantially degrade the existing 

visual character or quality of public views of 

the site and its surroundings? (Public views 

are those that are experienced from publicly 

accessible vantage point.) If the project is in 

an urbanized area, would the project conflict 

with applicable zoning and other regulations 

governing scenic quality? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Portions of the project area could be visible to members of the public from Hwy 36, Hwy 139, and 

County Road A2, but the project will not substantially degrade the aesthetic quality of the view.   



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

19 

 

 

d) Except as provided in Public Resources Code § 

21099, would the project create a new source 

of substantial light or glare which would 

adversely affect day or nighttime views in the 

area? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Prescribed fire activities associated with the project could create a faint temporary glow on some 

nights, but the glow will not be substantial and affect day or nighttime views of the area. 

 

AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project convert Prime Farmland, 

Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide 

Importance (Farmland), as shown on the maps 

prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping 

and Monitoring Program of the California 

Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not located on land identified as Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of 

Statewide Importance (Farmland).  

 

b) Would the project conflict with existing zoning 

for agricultural use or a Williamson Act 

contract? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is consistent with the existing zoning and Williamson Act contracts.  

 

c) Would the project conflict with existing zoning 

for, or cause rezoning of forest land (as defined 

in Public Resources Code §12220(g)), 

timberland (as defined by Public Resources 

Code §4526), or timberland zoned Timberland 

Production (as defined by Government Code 

§51104(g))? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Much of the project area is zoned for timberland production. The project is consistent with existing 

zoning. 

 

d) Would the project result in the loss of forest 

land or conversion of forest land to non-forest 

use? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project site will promote and improve forest land by removing competition and improving the 

chances that forest resources are not lost as a result of a potential catastrophic wildlife.  The 

proposed action is intended to remove small diameter trees, and enough encroaching brush to 

achieve a healthy and resilient landscape reflected in a fine grain mosaic of conifer and oak 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

20 

 

woodland habitats that is reflective of traditional knowledge and historic photographs of this area.  

It is intended that by facilitating this vegetation composition and structure a dynamic ecological 

community will be achieved that is fire resistant and adaptive to future environmental change (i.e., 

warmer and drier conditions or climate extremes).  This should result in healthier stands of conifer 

forests and oak woodlands due to reduced competition with brush that are less likely to succumb to 

a future wildfire due to reduced fuels and lower burn severity.  These changes could result in more 

forestland (oak/pine woodland) in the project area, but not less.  

 

e) Would the project involve other changes in the 

existing environment, which, due to their 

location or nature, could result in conversion of 

farmland to non-agricultural use? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project takes place entirely onsite and requires no improvement or expansion of auxiliary 

facilities; therefore, the project has no foreseeable indirect, offsite, or cumulative impacts that could 

degrade or convert forestlands or agricultural lands. 

 

AIR QUALITY 

a) Would the project conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of the applicable air quality 

plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project prescribed burning would produce PM10. Prescribed burning is regulated by the Lassen 

County Air Pollution Control District (LCAPCD 2023) in compliance with the state smoke 

management plan, Title 17. Prescribed burn projects must submit a Smoke Management Plan to 

LCAPCD for review and approval.  The plan is developed to minimize air quality impacts of the 

project.  Burning is done on approved burn days as determined by LCAPCD.  This process ensures 

that there are not any significant smoke impacts to public health from the project.  

 

b) Would the project result in a cumulatively 

considerable net increase of any criteria 

pollutant for which the project region is non-

attainment under an applicable federal or state 

ambient air quality standard? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Lassen County is currently in attainment for all federal and state ambient air quality standards.  
 

There are no class I airsheds within the project area. 

 

Effects to air quality and visibility could result from prescribed burning; and a very small increase 

in air pollutants could result from equipment use under the proposed action.  

 

Effects to air quality could result from fugitive dust caused by project implementation.  Best 

management practices (BMPs) will be implemented in order to minimize impacts. Fugitive dust 

generally quickly settles back down to the ground and typically does not spread far downwind.  

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

21 

 

Potential adverse effects from equipment used in project implementation would be very small as the 

equipment would mostly operate in remote areas that are not occupied. Limited amounts of 

equipment would be used over a broad area and equipment emissions would disperse quickly.  

 

Effects to visibility from project prescribed burning would be temporary and minimized by burning 

only during designated burn days when adequate weather conditions would disperse smoke quickly. 

Most prescribed burning would occur on a single day or over several days. Fire managers are 

required by the air district to plan for controlling smoke emissions through contingency planning as 

part of the smoke management plans. 

 

Project emissions would temporarily increase air pollutants in the airshed and Lassen County. 

However, their direct, indirect and cumulative effects would be regulated by the LCAPCD in order 

to prevent adverse impacts and exceedances of health standards. The proposed prescribed fire 

treatments would reduce future potential wildfire smoke. 

 

c) Would the project expose sensitive receptors to 

substantial pollutant concentrations? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Due to the above factors and the remoteness of the location, the project will not expose sensitive 

receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. 

 

d)  Would the project result in other emissions 

(such as those leading to odors) adversely 

affecting a substantial number of people? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not result in emissions other than those mentioned above.  

 

BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

 

a) Would the project have a substantial adverse 

effect, either directly or through habitat 

modifications, on any species identified as a 

candidate, sensitive, or special-status species in 

local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, 

or by the California Department of Fish and 

Wildlife or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project area was the traditional homeland of Maidu, Paiute, Pit River, and Washoe people who 

lived within and around the project area. Their traditional cultural practices included burning, 

coppicing, and digging; all of which are an integral process within this landscape, but perhaps most 

important was burning.  Due to selective pressures of this activity, the ecosystems within this 

landscape were largely shaped by the patterning of fire spatially and temporally across the seasons 

and years, thereby selecting species that are resilient to fire (Hankins 2013; Hankins 2015).  

Beginning in the 1840’s cattle ranches and homesteads were established within the area, and their 

land use practices also shaped the ecosystems.  Fire continued to be utilized by these settlers, but for 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

22 

 

more limited reasons (e.g., rangeland maintenance and forage production).  This different 

application of fire coupled with more intensive use has altered the native vegetation and ecosystem 

dynamics. For instance, the change in fire regime and practice has led to habitat conversion 

(e.g.,expansion of juniper into brush dominated ecosystems).  Some of these changes can be 

observed through comparison of historic vegetation surveys and photographs. The concomitant 

effects of grazing and fire has also enabled the establishment, and in some cases dominance, of non-

native vegetation (e.g., cheat grass (Bromus tectorum) and medusahead (Taeniatherum caput-

medusae) Shifts in policy ultimately led to the curtailment of prescribed fire within this landscape.  

With the absence of prescribed fire, wildfire (both natural and human caused) has had varying 

footprints within the project area and surrounding environs.  Specifically, the Hog Fire (2020), 

Sheep Fire (2020), and Dixie Fire (2021) burned extensively through the adjacent properties with 

variable intensity and severity, but primarily high and very high severity. 

 

 

Botanical Resources: The vegetation communities of the proposed project area are diverse. 

Dominant vegetation within the project area includes annual grasslands, black oak woodlands, 

mixed conifer-hardwood forest, eastside pine, Sierra mixed-conifer forest, and scrub communities 

dominated by sagebrush, bitterbrush, mountain mahogany, and manzanita.   

  

While most of the species found in the tree and shrub layers are native species, the herbaceous layer 

is generally dominated by non-native species. Some of the common non-native species include 

cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) and medusahead (Taeniatherum caput-medusae ). Meanwhile, 

common native species include: Great Basin wild rye(Leymus cinereus), squirrel tail grass (Elymus 

elymoides), Indian rice grass (Stipa hymenoides), Idaho fescue (Festuca idahoensis), and bluebunch 

wheatgrass (Elymus spicatus). 

 

Wildlife Resources: Many common species have been observed within the project area including: 

Mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) American black bear (Ursus americanus), mountain lion (Felis 

concolor), gray fox (Urocyon cinereoargenteus), jackrabbit (Lepus californicus), wild turkey 

(Meleagris gallopavo), California quail (Callipepla californica), bobcat (Lynx rufus), and a variety 

of bird species. 

 

Sensitive Biological Resources: An assessment of potential threatened, endangered, and rare 

(California Native Plant Society Rank 1 and 2) vascular plants, bryophytes, lichens, and fungi. (See 

Attachment A – Biological Assessment – Wildlife and Botany).  This assessment included a 

CNDDB 1-mile search around the project area, and a nine-quad search for rare plants using the 

California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) BIOS system 

(https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/BIOS ). This includes searching for rare plants identified within the 

area of the 7.5’ quadrangles where the project is primarily located (Susanville) along with the eight 

surrounding quads. The Calflora (https://www.calflora.org/ ), and California Native Plant Society 

inventory of rare plants (http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/ ) were also used, as well as consideration 

to past experience in the area.  

The purpose of this assessment is to analyze the effects of the project on several categories of 

sensitive species. This includes federally threatened, endangered, proposed, and candidate species, 

as well as California threatened, endangered, species of special concern, and rare plant species. 

Species listed as endangered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Federal) and California 

Department of Fish and Wildlife (State) are species currently in danger of extinction throughout all 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/BIOS
https://www.calflora.org/
http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

23 

 

or a significant portion of their range. Species listed as threatened are likely to become endangered 

within the foreseeable future throughout all or a significant portion of their range. A proposed 

species is any species that is proposed in the Federal Register to be listed as a threatened or 

endangered species under the Endangered Species Act (50 CFR 402.03). A candidate species is a 

species for which the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has on file enough information to warrant or 

propose listing as endangered or threatened. California species of special concern are wildlife species 

at risk of becoming threatened or endangered. The California Native Plant Society (CNPS) has 

developed an inventory of rare plants that is widely accepted as the standard for information on the 

rarity and endangerment status of California flora. 
 

All federal and state threatened endangered, proposed, candidate or sensitive species that could 

potentially occur within the project area were considered. After reviewing the CNDDB and available 

endangered species data from the USFWS and CDFW, 24 plant species have potential to occur 

within the project area (See Table 1 – Biological Assessment – Botany). The project is not likely to 

impact any of these species as proposed project activities will not occur within their habitats or 

mitigation measures have been designed to protect these habitats (wetlands, watercourses, lake 

margins). Twenty-six (26) wildlife species have potential to occur within the project area (See 

Table 2 – Biological Assessment – Wildlife). The project is not likely to impact any of these species 

as proposed project activities will not occur within their habitats or mitigation measures have been 

designed to protect nest sites and other sensitive resources.



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

24 

 

Table 1: Biological Assessment – Botany 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 

Flowering 

Period 

Elevation 

(m) 
Habitat/Ecology Impact Rationale 

Alisma 

gramineum 
Grass alisma None 2B.2 June-Aug 1200-1800 

Occurs in wetlands; wetland-

riparian; Ponds 
No 

Protected by 

WLPZ 

Lomatium 

roseanum 

Adobe 

lomatium 
None 1B.2 June-July 1460-2250 

Openings, gravelly or rocky; Great 

Basin scrub; Lower montane 

coniferous forest 

No 

Habitat not 

likely to occur 

in treatment 

areas. 

Artemisia 

tripartita ssp. 

tripartita 

Threetip 

sagebrush 
None 2B.3 Aug 2200-2600 

Rocky, volcanic; Upper montane 

coniferous forest (openings) 
No 

Open areas at 

higher 

elevations not 

affected by 

proposed 

project. 

Pyrrocoma 

lucida 

Sticky 

pyrrocoma 
None 1B.2 July-Oct 700-2050 

Alkaline clay flats; sagebrush scrub; 

openings in lower montane 

coniferous forest; meadows and 

seeps 

No 

No known 

occurrences 

within the 

project area; 

habitat not 

likely to occur 

in treatment 

area. 

Mertensia 

longiflora 

Long 

bluebells 
None 2B.2 Apr-June 1500-2200 

Open, generally spring-moist, 

drying places of plains, foothills, 

especially sagebrush or sparse 

ponderosa pine forest 

No 
Protected 

within WLPZ 

Brasenia 

schreberi 
Watershield None 2B.3 June-Sept <2200 

Wetlands; Wetland-riparian; Ponds; 

slow streams; marshes; swamps 
No 

Protected 

within WLPZ 

Carex davyi Davy’s sedge None 1B.3 May-Aug 1400-3300 
Usually in wetlands; sub-alpine and 

red fir forests 
No 

Protected 

within WLPZ; 

usually found 

higher than 

project area. 

Carex 

sheldonii 

Sheldon’s 

sedge 
None 2B.2 May-Aug 1200-2000 

Wetlands; riparian; Lower montane 

coniferous forest (mesic); marshes 

and swamps 

No 
Protected 

within WLPZ 

Astragalus 

pulsiferae var. 

pulsiferae 

Pulsifer’s 

milk-vetch 
None 1B.2 May-June 1300-1900 

Sandy or rocky soil, often with 

pines, sagebrush 
No 

Not observed 

within the 

project area. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

25 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 

Flowering 

Period 

Elevation 

(m) 
Habitat/Ecology Impact Rationale 

Found east of 

the project area 

in Great Basin 

scrub. 

Phacelia 

inundata 

Playa 

phacelia 
None 1B.3 May – Aug 1300-2000 

Alkaline flats, dry lake margins in 

Great Basin scrub, lower montane 

coniferous forests, and playas. 

No 

Protected 

within WLPZ, 

habitat not 

within 

treatment 

areas. 

Juncus dudleyi Dudley’s rush None 2B.3 July-Aug <2000 
Wet areas in montane coniferous 

forest 
No 

Protected 

within WLPZ 

Juncus 

luciensis 

Santa Lucia 

dwarf rush 
None 1B.2 Apr-July 300-2040 

Wet, sandy soils of seeps, meadows, 

vernal pools, streams, roadsides, 

chaparral, lower montane coniferous 

forest 

No 
Protected 

within WLPZ 

Botrychium 

ascendens 

Upswept 

moonwort 
None 2B.3 July-Aug 1500-3200 

Moist meadows, open woodlands 

near streams and seeps 
No 

Protected 

within WLPZ 

Botrychium 

crenulatum 

Scalloped 

moonwort 
None 2B.2 June-Sept 1500-3600 

Saturated hard water seeps and 

stream margins, moist meadow, 

seeps, bogs, fens 

No 
Protected 

within WLPZ 

Botrychium 

montanum 

Western 

goblin 
None 2B.1 July-Sept 1500-2100 

Shady conifer woodland, especially 

under Calocedrus along streams 
No 

Protected 

within WPLZ 

Penstemon 

janishiae 

Janish’s 

beardtongue 
None 2B.2 May-July 1065-2350 

Generally igneous-clay soils in 

sagebrush scrub, juniper/shrub 

savanna, ponderosa pine forests 

No 

Closest 

observation on 

Diamond 

Mountains 8 

miles south of 

the project 

area. 

Phlox 

muscoides 

Squarestem 

phlox 
None 2B.3 Jun-Aug 1400-2700 Open rocky area; alpine rock No 

Habitat within 

project area 

will not be 

disturbed by 

project 

activities. 

Eriogonum 

ochrocephalu

m var. 

Ochre-

flowered 

buckwheat 

None 2B.2 May – June 1300-1700 
Volcanic or clay; Great Basin scrub, 

pinyon and juniper woodland 
No 

No 

observations 

within the 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

26 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 

Flowering 

Period 

Elevation 

(m) 
Habitat/Ecology Impact Rationale 

ochrocephalu

m 

project area. 

Nearest 

occurrence in 

Herlong 30 

miles SE of the 

project area. 

Rumex venosus Winged dock None 2B.3 May-June 1200-1800 
Dry, sandy places; Great Basin 

scrub 
No 

Lack of 

suitable habitat 

in project area. 

Stuckenia 

filiformis ssp. 

alpine 

Northern 

slender 

pondweed 

None 2B.2 May-July 300-2150 

Shallow clear water of lakes, 

drainage channels, marshes and 

swamps. 

No 

Aquatic, 

protected by 

WLPZ 

Ranunculus 

macounii 

Macoun’s 

buttercup 
None 2B.2 June-July 1200-1500 Wet meadows, shallow water No 

Protected 

within WLPZ 

Rhamnus 

alnifolia 

Alder 

buckthorn 
None 2B.2 May – July 1370-2130 

Wetlands, red fir, lodgepole pine, 

wetland-riparian 
No 

Protected 

within WLPZ 

Geum 

aleppicum 
Aleppo avens None 2B.2 June-Aug 1000-1600 

Meadows in sagebrush scrub and 

ponderosa pine forest 
No 

Habitat not 

impacted by 

proposed 

project 

activities. 

Ivesia 

sericoleuca 
Plumas ivesia None 1B.2 May – Oct 1300-2320 

Vernally mesic, generally volcanic 

meadows, vernal pools, Great Basin 

scrub, lower montane coniferous 

forest, freshwater wetlands, 

wetland-riparian 

No 
Protected by 

WLPZ 

State Status 

CNPS Rare Plant Rank 

1B – Plant rare, threatened, or endangered in CA and elsewhere 

2B – Plant rare, threatened, or endangered in CA, but common elsewhere 

 

.1 - Seriously threatened in CA 

.2 – moderately threatened in CA 

.3 – not very threatened in CA 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

27 

 

Table 2 – Biological Assessment – Wildlife 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

Insects 

Bombus 

occidentalis 

Western 

bumblebee 
None 

Candidate 

Endangered 

Three basic habitat requirements: suitable 

nesting sites for the colonies, nectar and pollen 

from floral resources available throughout the 

duration of the colony period (spring, summer 

and fall), and suitable overwintering sites for the 

queens. Nests occur primarily in underground 

cavities such as old squirrel or other animal 

nests and in open west-southwest slopes 

bordered by trees. 

Yes 

Habitat will benefit 

from project by 

increasing foraging 

habitat through 

clearing and 

plantings. 

Fish 

Catostomus 

lahontan 

Lahontan 

mountain 

sucker 

None 

Species of 

Special 

Concern 

(SSC) 

Mountain suckers are characteristically found in 

shallow water and have a high tolerance for 

organic pollution and warm temperatures. 

Mountain suckers, unlike most stream-dwelling 

fishes in western North America, spawn in 

summer (June to early August) rather than 

spring In California, adults have been observed 

moving into small streams during later July to 

feed on algae and to spawn  Spawning probably 

occurs at night in riffles located immediately 

below pools,  Mountain suckers feed primarily 

on algae and diatoms but will feed on aquatic 

invertebrates as well  

Yes 

Habitat within 

Watercourse Lake 

Protection Zone 

(WLPZ)-will be 

protected 
 

Siphateles 

bicolor ssp. 12 

Eagle Lake 

tui chub 
None SSC 

Endemic to Eagle Lake, a highly alkaline, 

terminal lake. Typically spawn in shallow water 

areas with adequate gravel substrate and aquatic 

vegetation. 

No 

Project activities will 

not impact Eagle 

Lake 

Oncorhynchus 

mykiss 

aquilarum 

Eagle Lake 

rainbow 

trout 

None SSC 

Endemic to Eagle Lake, a highly alkaline, 

terminal lake, and the main tributary, Pine 

Creek. 

No 

Project activities will 

not impact Eagle 

Lake. 

Amphibians 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

28 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

Rana sierrae 

Sierra 

Nevada 

yellow-

legged frog 

Endangered Threatened 

Associated with streams, lakes and ponds in 

montane riparian, lodgepole pine, subalpine 

conifer, and wet meadow habitats at elevations 

from 4,500 - 11,980 ft. Aquatic species usually 

found within a few feet of water. Eggs are 

usually laid in shallow water attached to gravel 

or rocks. Tadpoles may require up to two over-

wintering periods to complete their aquatic 

development. 

Yes 

No known occupied 

habitat within the 

project area. Outside 

of known current 

range. Habitat within 

Watercourse Lake 

Protection Zone 

(WLPZ)-will be 

protected 

Ambystoma 

macrodactylum 

sigillatum 

Southern 

Long-Toed 

Salamander 

None SSC 

Adults spend much of their lives underground, 

often utilizing the tunnels of burrowing 

mammals such as moles and ground squirrels.   

Transformed adults are rarely found outside of 

the breeding season.  They are mostly found 

under wood, logs, rocks, bark and other objects 

near breeding sites which can include ponds, 

lakes, and streams, or when they are breeding in 

the water.  

Yes 

Habitat within 

Watercourse Lake 

Protection Zone 

(WLPZ)-will be 

protected. 

Birds 

Haliaeetus 

leucocephalus 
Bald Eagle Delisted Endangered 

Occupy various woodland, forest, grassland, 

and wetland habitats. Large nests are normally 

built in the upper canopy of large trees, and 

snags typically conifers near water sources with 

fish. 

Yes 

Known nest sites 

within the project 

area will be 

monitored and 

protected per Forest 

Practice Rules. 

Strix 

occidentalis 

occidentalis 

California 

Spotted Owl 
None SSC 

This species is closely related to the Northern 

spotted owl and has a similar life history 

utilizing mature forests for habitat. 

 

Yes 

No known nest sites 

within or adjacent to 

project area. Project 

area is just east of 

documented 

occurrences. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

29 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

Accipiter 

gentilis 

Northern 

Goshawk 
None SSC 

Generally, prefer dense forests with large trees 

and relatively high canopy closures like late 

successional forest stands. 

Yes 

Known nest sites 

within the project 

area will be 

monitored and 

protected per Forest 

Practice Rules. 

Accipiter 

cooperii 

Cooper’s 

hawk 
None WL 

Dense stands of live oak, riparian deciduous, or 

other forest habitats near water used most 

frequently. 
Yes 

Known nest sites 

within the project 

area will be 

monitored and 

protected per Forest 

Practice rules. 

Aquila 

chrysaetos 

 

Golden 

Eagle 
None 

Fully 

Protected 

(FP), Watch 

List (WL) 

Live in open and semi open country; avoid 

developed areas and uninterrupted stretches of 

forest. Canyonlands, rimrock terrain, and 

riverside cliffs and bluffs. Nest on cliffs and 

steep escarpments in grasslands, chaparral, 

scrublands, forest, and other vegetated areas. 

Marginal 

No known nest sites 

within the project 

area; may forage or 

fly over. 

Falco 

mexicanus 

Prairie 

Falcon 
None WL 

Distributed from annual grasslands to alpine 

meadows, but associated primarily with 

perennial grasslands, savannahs, rangeland, 

some agricultural fields, and desert scrub areas. 

Usually nests in a scrape on a sheltered ledge of 

a cliff overlooking a large, open area. 

Marginal 

No known nest sites 

within the project 

area; may forage or 

fly over, 

Antigone 

canadensis 

tabida 

Greater 

Sandhill 

Crane 

None 
Threatened, 

FP 

Winter in the Central Valley and nest in six 

northeastern CA counties. Nest in healthy 

undisturbed wetland ecosystems. 

No 

Areas with known 

occurrences are not 

within areas within or 

adjacent to project 

activities. Potential 

habitat within WLPZ 

will be protected. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

30 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

Riparia riparia 
Bank 

Swallow 
None Threatened 

A neotropical migrant found primarily in 

riparian and other lowland habitats in California 

west of the deserts during the spring-fall period. 

In summer, restricted to riparian, lacustrine, and 

coastal areas with vertical banks, bluffs, and 

cliffs with fine-textured or sandy soils, into 

which it digs nesting holes. Predominantly a 

colonial breeder. 

No 

No known nesting 

colonies within the 

project area. Potential 

habitat within WLPZ 

will be protected. 

Agelaius 

tricolor 

Tricolored 

Blackbird 
None Threatened 

Forms the largest breeding colonies of any 

North American landbird. Breeding sites are 

open accessible water; a protected nesting 

substrate, including either flooded or thorny or 

spiny vegetation; and a suitable foraging space 

providing adequate insect prey within a few 

kilometers of the nesting colony. 

No 

No known nesting 

areas within the 

project area. Potential 

habitat within WLPZ 

will be protected. 

Pandion 

haliaetus 
Osprey None WL 

Nests on platform of sticks at the top of large 

snags, dead-topped trees, on cliffs, or on human 

made structures. Nest usually within 400 m of 

fish-producing water. 

Yes 

No known nest sites 

within or adjacent to 

the project area; may 

forage or fly over. 

Occurrences will be 

protected per Forest 

Practice rules. 

Empidonax 

traillii 

Willow 

Flycatcher 
None  Endangered 

A rare to locally uncommon, summer resident in 

wet meadow and montane riparian habitats at 

600-2500 m (2000-8000 ft) in the Sierra Nevada 

and Cascade Range. Most often occurs in broad, 

open river valleys or large mountain meadows 

with lush growth of shrubby willows. Nesting 

site usually near languid stream, standing water, 

or seep. 

No 

No known nesting 

areas within the 

project area. Potential 

habitat within WLPZ 

will be protected. 

Circus Northern None SSC Frequents meadows, grasslands, open N Habitat will not be 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

31 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

hudsonius harrier rangelands, desert sinks, fresh and saltwater 

emergent wetlands, seldom found in wooded 

areas. Nests on ground in shrubby vegetation at 

marsh edges. 

impacted by proposed 

project activities. 

Nests protected by 

WLPZ 

Setophaga 

petechia 

Yellow 

warbler 
None SSC 

Breeds in riparian woodlands, montane 

chaparral, and in open ponderosa pine and 

mixed conifer habitats with substantial amounts 

of brush 

Yes 

No known 

observations within 

the project area. 

Habitat protected 

within the WLPZ. 

Coturnicops 

noveboracensis 
Yellow rail None SSC 

Require densely vegetated sedge 

marshes/meadows with moist soil or shallow 

standing water. 
Yes 

Known occurrences 

in project area in 

habitat that will not 

be impacted by 

proposed project 

activities and 

protected by WLPZ. 

Xanthocephalus 

xanthocephalus 

Yellow-

headed 

blackbird 

None SSC 

Breed almost exclusively in marshes with tall 

emergent vegetation, such as tules (Scirpus sp.) 

or cattails (Typha sp.), generally in open areas 

and edges over relatively deep water 

Yes 

Known occurrences 

in project area in 

habitat that will not 

be impacted by 

proposed project 

activities and 

protected by WLPZ. 

Mammals 

Pekania 

pennanti 
Fisher  None SSC 

High cover and structural complexity in large 

tracts of mature and old growth forests 
No 

Project outside 

current range. No 

recent detections 

within or adjacent to 

the project area. 

Vulpes vulpes 

necator 

Sierra 

Nevada Red 

Fox 

None Threatened 

High mountains of the Sierra Nevada in open 

conifer woodlands and mountain meadows near 

treeline. 

No 

Project area outside 

of current range and 

elevation. No recent 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

32 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

detections within or 

adjacent to the 

project area. 

Canis lupus 

 
Gray Wolf Endangered Endangered 

Wolves have historically occupied diverse 

habitats in North America, including tundra, 

forests, grasslands, and deserts. As a 

consequence, and because they travel long 

distances and require large home ranges, wolves 

are considered habitat generalists. 

Yes 

Project not currently 

within know resident 

wolf territories; but 

will be monitored 

during project 

implementation. 

Proposed treatments 

are not expected to 

affect the suitability 

of habitat for 

wolverine, as they are 

somewhat generalist 

and use a variety of 

conditions. 

Antrozous 

pallidus 
pallid bat None SSC 

Wide variety of habitats is occupied, including 

grasslands, shrublands, woodlands, and forests 

from sea level up through low elevation mixed 

conifer forests. Most common in open, dry 

habitats with rocky areas for roosting. Day 

roosts are in caves, crevices, mines, and 

occasionally in hollow trees and buildings. 

Yes 

No known roosting 

sites in the project 

area and no activity 

detected.  

Aplodontia rufa 

californica 

Sierra 

Nevada 

Mountain 

Beaver 

None SSC 

Not related to true beavers, this nocturnal rodent 

prefers moist cool deciduous and coniferous 

forests. Burrows usually consist of a network of 

tunnels built in deep soil. Burrow entrances 

often contain clumps of wilted vegetation which 

the animal likely uses as a kind of food cache as 

well as a source of nesting material. 

Yes 

Based on the species 

preferred habitat, not 

likely to be impacted 

by the current project 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

33 

 

Scientific 

Name 

Common 

Name 

Federal 

Status 

State 

Status 
Habitat 

Habitat 

in the 

Project 

Area 

Potential 

Impact 

Taxidea taxus 
American 

badger 
None SSC 

Most abundant in drier open stages of most 

shrub, forest, and herbaceous habitats, with 

friable soils 

Yes 

Based on the species 

preferred habitat, not 

likely to be impacted 

by the current project. 

Gulo gulo Wolverine 
Proposed 

Threatened 
Threatened 

In Northern Sierra Nevada, have been found in 

mixed conifer, red fir, and lodgepole habitats, 

and probably use subalpine conifer, wet 

meadow, and montane riparian habitats at 

elevations from 4,300 – 7,300 ft. Prefers areas 

of low human disturbance 

Yes 

The nearest 

wolverine sighting is 

17.5 miles southwest 

of the project area. 

Proposed treatments 

are not expected to 

affect the suitability 

of habitat for 

wolverine, as they are 

somewhat generalist 

and use a variety of 

conditions. 
 

FE – Federally endangered 

FT – Federally threatened 
FC – Federal candidate 

FS – Federally sensitive 

ST – State threatened 
SE – State endangered 

CSC – CA species of special concern



34 

 

Botanical Resources 

Direct and Indirect Effects: Direct effects occur when plants are physically impacted by management 

activities. Proposed activities may affect rare plants by physical damage.  Indirect effects are those that are 

separated from an action in either time or space. Habitat components including soils, shading, and species 

composition of the plant and pollinator community may directly and indirectly be altered by the proposed 

actions. These effects can be beneficial or detrimental to rare plants, and may include increased soil erosion, 

increased light reaching the ground, introduction or promotion of conditions favorable for non-native 

invasive plants, effects to pollinator species, or other changes to rare plant habitats. The project carries a risk 

of spreading or introducing noxious weeds; however, the risk is significantly reduced by implementing the 

project mitigation measures for preventing and controlling these invasive species. Noxious weeds are not 

expected to increase in areas from disturbed treatment areas or roads and trails due to this project. 

Species Specific Determinations – Botany:  Known occurrences of four species on the target list above have 

been observed in the project area.  These include: Alisma gramineum (CNPS rank 2B.2); Botrychium 

crenulatum (CNPS Rank 2B.2); Ranunculus macounii (CNPS Rank 2B.2), and Rhamnus alnifolia (CNPS 

Rank 2B.2). Mitigation Measure BIO-1: Botanical Resources detailed on page 12, Mitigation Measure 

BIO-2: Riparian Area Protection, and Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Best Management Practices (BMPs) to 

Protect Water Resources have been developed to protect these and other sensitive botanical resources. 

Mitigation Measure BIO-3: Noxious Weeds and Mitigation Measure BIO-4: Staging Area have been 

designed to avoid the spread of noxious weeds within the project area. 

 

Cumulative effects – Botanical Resources: The additive effects of past actions (wildfires, wildfire 

suppression, timber harvest, nonnative plant introductions and livestock grazing) have shaped the present 

landscape and corresponding populations of rare plants. However, data describing the past distribution and 

abundance of rare plant species is extremely limited, making it impossible to quantify the effects of 

historic activities on the resources and conditions that are present today.  

Undoubtedly, some plant species have always been rare due to particular ecological requirements or 

geographic isolation. It is also likely that past actions have caused some species to become rarer and 

encouraged others to become more common. Therefore, in order to incorporate the contribution of past 

activities into the cumulative effects, this analysis uses the current abundance and distribution of rare plant 

species as a baseline for the existing condition shaped by the impacts of past actions. 

Past, present and future activities have and will continue to alter rare plant populations and their habitats 

to various degrees. Within the project boundary, these management activities include grazing, wildfire, fire 

suppression, prescribed fire, and road maintenance. However, the approach taken in this analysis is that, if 

direct and indirect adverse effects on rare plant species in the analysis area are minimal or would not 

occur, then they would not contribute substantially to cumulative effects on the species. In addition, the 

effects of future projects would likely be minimal or similar to those described in this analysis if existing 

management objectives and policies (such as field surveys, protection of known rare species locations and 

noxious weed mitigations) remain in place.  

For sensitive plant species, when the effects of these past, present and reasonably foreseeable future actions 

are combined with the effects predicted for the current proposed action, the total would still be minor and 

insignificant, with the possibility of some individuals being impacted, but no downward trends expected for 

any occurrences. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

35 

 

Wildlife Resources 

 

Direct and Indirect Effects Common to All Wildlife Species: All proposed treatments could result in 

disturbance from human presence, habitat alteration, prescribed fire and noise. The duration of disturbance, 

caused by the presence of people and machinery, may cause disturbance to wildlife accustomed to lower 

levels of activity. Mechanized equipment may generate noise sufficient to disturb nesting wildlife and could 

cause nest site abandonment if conducted without restrictions. Therefore, standard management requirements 

include limited operating periods when disturbance to wildlife is identified as a concern. Direct disturbance, 

including mortality to individual animals addressed in this report is unlikely, due to survey efforts for selected 

species and incorporation of limited operating periods where appropriate. If presently unknown wildlife are 

discovered prior to or during implementation and species identified warrants a limited operating period, 

protections would be implemented. 

 

Cumulative Effects Common to All Wildlife Species: The existing condition reflects the changes of all 

activities that have occurred in the past. The analysis of cumulative effects evaluates the impact on sensitive 

species from the existing condition within the analysis area. Overall, for all species, cumulative effects could 

occur with the incremental loss of the quantity and/or quality of habitat.  
 

A near absence of landscape level, low- intensity surface fires contributed to increased stand densities of 

small diameter trees and brush making these areas more susceptible to high intensity wildfire and 

subsequent conversion to a habitat less suitable for wildlife. These habitat shifts affect species abundance 

and diversity of the landscape. The proposed project will produce a mosaic of habitats suitable for a higher 

diversity of species 

Species Specific Determinations – Wildlife: Known occurrences of northern goshawk and bald eagle occur 

within the project area. Under Mitigation measure BIO-5: Protection of Nest Sites, nest sites will be 

protected per California Forest Practice Rules §939.2 – General Protection of Nest Sites, and §939.3 Specific 

Requirements for Protection of Nest Sites. Mitigation Measure BIO-6: Terrestrial and Aquatic Resources 

has been designed to protect new wildlife findings, snags, and structure trees 

 

Cumulative effects to Wildlife Resources: The primary activity that may affect wildlife species within the 

project boundary involve the manipulation of habitat conditions through thinning, emergent brush 

treatments, and prescribed fire to improve native species habitat, reduce the risk of high intensity 

catastrophic wildfire, and ensure fire resilience to the surrounding community. 

 

Small-magnitude short-term contributions from the project contribute to potential long-term benefits. It is 

assumed that present and future actions on all lands can, at times, produce negative impacts to aquatic 

biological resources. There is no expectation that any known thresholds for analysis species would be 

exceeded by the cumulative effects from all actions. A long-term benefit to aquatic habitat is anticipated as the 

area trends toward pre-fire conditions.  

 

b) Would the project have a substantial adverse 

effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive 

natural community identified in local or 

regional plans, policies, or regulations or by 

the California Department of Fish and Wildlife 

or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

36 

 

Mitigation Measure BIO-2: Riparian Area Protection and Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project Best 

Management Practices have been incorporated to protect watercourses and the species that inhabit these 

zones through consultation with CDFW when necessary to obtain a Streambed Alteration Permit when 

necessary and the use of Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones (WLPZs). 

 

c) Would the project have a substantial adverse 

effect on state or federally protected wetlands 

(including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal 

pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, 

filling, hydrological interruption, or other 

means? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project area does encompass some seasonal wetlands, such as meadows and springs. However, 

Mitigation Measure #13: HYD-1: Project Best Management Practices (BMPs) involving the protection of 

water resources will eliminate any potentially significant effects to wetlands, seeps and watercourses in the 

project area.  

 

d) Would the project interfere substantially with 

the movement of any native resident or 

migratory fish or wildlife species or with 

established native resident or migratory 

wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native 

wildlife nursery sites? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The proposed project area does not interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or 

migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or 

impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites. There may be short-term impacts to mule deer migration, but 

will not impede the overall migration of the herd. 

 

e) Would the project conflict with any local 

policies or ordinances protecting biological 

resources, such as a tree preservation policy or 

ordinance? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 

 
 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 

 
 

No Impact 
 
 
 

 
 

The proposed project does not conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. 

 

f) Would the project conflict with the provisions 

of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, 

Natural Community Conservation Plan, or 

other approved local, regional, or state habitat 

conservation plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 

Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

37 

 

CULTURAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the significance of a historical 

resource pursuant to § 15064.5? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is located in the ancestral home of Maidu, Northern Paiute, Pit River, and Washoe Tribes 

represented today by several bands within the county and surrounding areas.  Local Indigenous peoples 

frequently burned creating a fire resistant and resilient landscape that was fire-maintained by low to 

moderate intensity fires that self regulated. These Native Americans are known to have utilized the acorns of 

California black oak trees along the base of the Sierra Nevada while also subsisting from fishing and hunting 

for deer, jack rabbits, waterfowl, elk, antelope, mountain sheep and buffalo, as well as smaller animals and 

birds.  Gathering crops of roots and seeds was also undertaken. 

Early settlers in the  19
th

 century transmitted diseases that had a catastrophic effect on native peoples. The 

mass insurgence of Euroamericans during the Gold Rush in 1848-9 led to additional waves of disease spread, 

violence, and environmental destruction. By the mid19th century, Native Americans were forced to move on 

reservations. 

Three historic themes relevant to the history of the project area include: lumber and logging, homesteading, 

and livestock ranching. The Gold Rush (1848-9) brought a wave of immigrants to California. The 

Homestead Act of 1862 accelerated the settlement of the western territory by granting family s 160 acres of 

surveyed public lands for settlement. Claimants were required to “improve” the plot by building a dwelling 

and cultivating the land and after 5 years the original filer was entitled to the property, free and clear, except 

for a small registration fee. Many of these homesteaders conducted livestock ranching 

Direct and Indirect Effects: Direct effects to cultural resources are those that physically alter, damage, or 

destroy all or part of a resource; alter characteristics of the surrounding environment that contribute to the 

resource’s significance; introduce visual or audible elements out of character with the property or that alters 

its setting; or neglect a resource to the extent that it deteriorates or is destroyed.  An archaeological records 

search was conducted at the Northeast Information Center (NEIC) of the California Historic Resources 

Inventory System (CHRIS).  A total of 23 cultural resources were identified within the project area as a 

result of a records search. Archaeological surveys conducted by a Professional Registered Archaeologist 

(PRA) or a Registered Professional Forester (RPF) with CALFIRE Archaeological Training Certification 

will be required prior to all mechanical thinning operations that are subject to California Forest Practices 

Rules. An Archaeological Addendum or Archaeological Letter will be submitted to the CALFIRE Cultural 

Resource Management Program for review and approval prior to implementation, if required.  

Mitigation Measures have been incorporated into project design to protect identified sites and potential 

inadvertent discoveries.  These include: Mitigation Measure CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources; 

Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources; and Mitigation Measure 

CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains all detailed on page 13. The project as presently designed 

is not expected to have an adverse effect on archaeological or cultural resources. 

Cumulative Effects: Successful utilization of standard protection measures will result in no significant 

cumulative impacts to heritage resources within the project area. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

38 

 

b) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the significance of an archaeological 

resource pursuant to § 15064.5? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

See answer above to question (a). 

 

c) Would the project disturb any human remains, 

including those interred outside of formal 

cemeteries? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Mitigation Measures have been incorporated into project design to protect identified sites and potential 

inadvertent discoveries.  These include: Mitigation Measure #8: CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources; 

Mitigation Measure #9: CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources; and Mitigation Measure 

#10: CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains all detailed on page 13. 

 

ENERGY 

a) Would the project result in potentially 

significant environmental impact due to 

wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 

consumption of energy resources, during 

project construction or operation? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is in a remote location and will require transport of personnel and equipment to the project site.  

The project will not result in wasteful or inefficient energy use because equipment can be securely left on 

site overnight and between project phases, saving on travel fuel. The project is likely to result in slowing the 

rate of wildfire spread and providing a defensible space where crews can stop fire before it spreads to Lake 

Forest, Susanville, and the Willow Creek Valley; therefore, the project could reduce the overall amount of 

energy and fuel spent combating wildfires.  The project will not violate or obstruct any State or local 

renewable energy or energy efficiency plan; all operations will comply with law. 

 

There will be minimal impact to energy resources from this project and potentially energy savings resulting 

from a reduction in wildfire fighting energy needs due to the resulting fuel break. 

 

b) Would the project conflict with or obstruct a 

state or local plan for renewable energy or 

energy efficiency? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not violate or obstruct any State or local renewable energy or energy efficiency plan; all 

operations will comply with law.  The project will result in renewable energy as biomass from thinning 

operations will be chipped and delivered to local cogeneration facilities. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

39 

 

GEOLOGY AND SOILS 

a) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 

delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 

Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the 

State Geologist for the area or based on other 

substantial evidence of a known fault? (Refer 

to California Geological Survey Special 

Publication 42.) 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

No activities associated with this project are substantial enough to rupture a known earthquake fault. 

 

b) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

strong seismic ground shaking? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Although the project is in a seismically active area (as is true for all of Northern California), the project does 

not include any blasting, new construction, or any other impact strong enough to influence seismic activity.  

 

c) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

seismic-related ground failure, including 

liquefaction? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Although the project is in a seismically active area (as is true for all of Northern California), the project does 

not include any blasting, new construction, or any other impact strong enough to influence seismic activity.  

 

d) Would the project directly or indirectly cause 

potential substantial adverse effects, including 

the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

landslides? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Land management operations associated with the project are unlikely to increase the risk of landslide in the 

area. Small landslides and slumps are a normal part of the local landscape. The remote location further 

decreases the impact of any possible landslide. 

 

e) Would the project result in substantial soil 

erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Erosion is sometimes increased after a fire, including after prescribed fire. However, because prescribed fires 

on the project are likely to be relatively small and patchy, erosion impacts should be less than significant.  



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

40 

 

Furthermore, any post-fire erosion impacts from the project are expected to be less significant than impacts 

from the no-project alternative, i.e., catastrophic wildfire consuming close to 100% of the accumulated fuels 

on the project site. 

 

f) Would the project be located on a geologic unit 

or soil that is unstable, or that would become 

unstable as a result of the project, and 

potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, 

lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or 

collapse? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Land management operations associated with this project are unlikely to increase the risk of landslide in the 

area. Small landslides and slumps are a normal part of the local landscape. The remote location further 

decreases the impact of any possible landslide. Mitigation measure GEO-1: Fire line construction and 

GEO-2: Slope restrictions, are designed to reduce erosion potential and the possibility of possible landslides. 

 

g) Would the project be located on expansive soil, 

as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform 

Building Code (1994, as updated), creating 

substantial direct or indirect risks to life or 

property? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There is no building construction involved with this project. 

 

h) Would the project have soils incapable of 

adequately supporting the use of septic tanks 

or alternative waste water disposal systems 

where sewers are not available for the disposal 

of waste water? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not involve the installation of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems. 

 

i) Would the project directly or indirectly 

destroy a unique paleontological resource or 

site or unique geologic feature? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There are no known unique paleontological resources/sites or unique geologic features within the project 

area. 

 

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

a) Would the project generate greenhouse gas 

emissions, either directly or indirectly, that 

may have a significant impact on the 

environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Three of the most important greenhouse gases (GHG) resulting from human activity are carbon dioxide 

(CO2), methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N2O). They are produced by both natural processes and human 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

41 

 

activity. Greenhouse gases play a role in the natural environment by absorbing the sun’s heat. As the suns 

energy radiates back from the Earth’s surface toward space, these gases trap the heat in the atmosphere 

keeping the planet’s surface warmer than it would otherwise be. Increases of atmospheric greenhouse gases 

result in additional warming of the Earth’s atmosphere.  

 

Burning of vegetation as proposed in this project will result in greenhouse gas emissions, as well as a very 

small increase could result from equipment use.  The annual averaged emissions of CO2 from wildfires in 

California are significant (24 million metric tons CO2 per year; equivalent to 6% of the fossil fuel burning 

(FFB) emissions annually).  This ratio is subject to substantial variation.  Whereas ffb emissions are fairly 

constant throughout the year, one bad wildfire month during the year can result in the majority of the CO2 

emission resulting from wildfires for the year.  For example, major wildfires in September 2006, including 

the Day Fire in Southern California, produced an estimated 16 million metric tonnes CO2 for that month, 

equivalent to approximately 50% of estimated total monthly FFB emissions for the entire state (Wiedinmyer 

and Neff 2007). Far more acres are burned each year in wildfires than are burned in prescribed fires. To the 

extent that prescribed fire can lessen the intensity or reduce the acres burned in wildfires, prescribed fire can 

temporarily reduce the carbon emissions from the wildland. 

 

Historic pictures and accounts indicate that the project area at the time of European settlement in the 19
th

 and 

early 20
th

 century was more of an open conifer and oak woodland where periodic wildfire (and fires started 

by indigenous peoples) could creep through the understory at low intensity.  The project area today is 

characterized by a decrease in average tree size, increase in the number of trees per acre, and a dense 

understory of evergreen schlerophyll shrubs in genera such as Adenostoma, Ceanothus, and Arctostaphylos, 

that now dominate many sites at low to middle elevations throughout California. Noted for its intense fire 

behavior, these vegetation communities have been classified as an intermediate fire return interval system 

(FRI of 20-100 years) that typically burns in stand-replacing crown fires (Conrad and Weise 1998). 

 

Plants in this ecosystem are adapted to this fire regime.  Fire adaptations include vigorous stump sprouting 

and dormant seeds that build up during non-fire years and require fire for scarification.  Many of the shrubs 

promote fire through production of dead highly flammable branches and production of resins on their leaves. 

 

Fires occurring at intervals greater than 20 years are often high intensity because of the large amount of fuel 

existing in shrub tops.  Many nutrients are locked in the foliage.  Through burning, these nutrients are 

recycled back in to the soil.  After fires, forbs are usually profuse on the newly opened floor. After a year, the 

plant community is dominated by annual grasses.  Five years after a fire, shrubs once again dominate the 

ecosystem.  Fertilization increases leaf area production and capacity to sequester carbon (Mader 2007). 

Prescribed fire returns a portion of the nutrients stored in the biomass and litter to the soil, thereby fertilizing 

the remaining vegetation and increasing the capacity to sequester carbon. 

 

On average, the biomass accumulation of habitats like those in the project area is about 15 to 20 tons per acre 

(Bolsinger 1989).  The carbon component of the biomass accounts for about 50% of the mass.  Therefore, the 

biomass contains 7.5 to 10 tons per acre of carbon (27.5 to 36.7 tons per acre CO2 equivalent) in biomass.  

At some point the carbon stored in the biomass will be released through respiration, decay, or combustion.  

Although some of the carbon will be added to the soil, most will be released to the atmosphere. 

 

Over time the carbon that is stored in vegetation will be released as part of the normal carbon cycle.  Carbon 

will also be sequestered over time as new vegetation grows as long as the land remains productive.  

Prescribed fire and forest/woodland fuel reduction treatments are ways to help maintain those carbon stocks 

over time.  By reducing the probability of catastrophic wildfire, management operations can increase the 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

42 

 

probability of survival for some of the vegetation within the project area, as well as, vegetation adjacent to 

the project, allowing the remaining vegetation to continue to sequester carbon.  The carbon released by the 

management treatments will be resequestered by the remaining vegetation and new vegetation following the 

treatment.  This has the potential to reuse the massive increase in short term emissions from wildfire and 

spread emissions over a longer time period while allowing sequestration to occur in the remaining 

vegetation. 

 

Forest management activities are generally used to reduce the fuel load of the forest floor and coarse woody 

debris, as well as a portion of the above ground biomass.  The purpose of the fire/thinning is to reduce the 

risk of large damaging fires by creating conditions that increase effectiveness of fire suppression.  Prescribed 

fire typically does not affect soil carbon due to lower burn temperatures than wildfire.  Prescribed burning 

returns some carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, and particulate matter to the atmosphere.  Combustion 

generally is more complete than wildfire, which releases higher concentrations of the other greenhouse gases 

and particulate matter (Mader 2007). 

 

California’s wildlands are going to burn and the carbon is going to be released.  Through prescribed fire and 

forest management land managers can have a say in the timing and quantity of some of those releases.  Land 

managers can also lessen the impacts or provide benefits for other environmental resources.  Fire hazard 

reduction may be an objective of prescribed fire and forest thinning; however, other objectives are met as 

well, such as wildlife habitat improvement or range improvement.  If a wildfire does happen to enter an area 

that was treated, the wildfire may be contained sooner with reduced area burned and consequently reduced 

carbon emissions.  The reduced number of acres or fire intensity will have benefits to other resource, 

including environmental resources, public health, and public and firefighter safety. 

 

Less than significant effects to greenhouse gases and carbon sequestration could result from prescribed 

burning; and a very small increase could result from equipment use under the proposed action when 

compared to the CA Air Resources Board approved 2020 emissions limit of 427 million metric tonnes of 

CO2.  Prescribed burning in the project area would reduce the potential of high-intensity wildfires for several 

years and correspondingly reduce potential adverse smoke events.  After project treatments are completed a 

substantial amount of carbon would remain sequestered below and above ground in the project area. In 

addition, project treatments would accelerate carbon sequestration within the project over the long term.  

 
Cumulative effects: Cumulative effects include a discussion of the combined, incremental effects of human 

activities. For green house gas emissions and carbon sequestration, the area for consideration is the airshed 

and at the county level. Past and present emission producing activities and carbon sequestration are 

considered as the current condition of the air and carbon resource. Project emissions would temporarily 

increase greenhouse gas emissions in the airshed and Lassen County. However, their direct, indirect and 

cumulative effects would be regulated by the Lassen County Air Pollution Control District in order to 

prevent adverse impacts and exceedances of health standards. The proposed treatments would reduce future 

potential wildfire smoke and greenhouse gas emissions, and reduce potential loss of sequestered carbon. 

 

b) Would the project conflict with an applicable 

plan, policy or regulation adopted for the 

purpose of reducing the emissions of 

greenhouse gases? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of 

reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

43 

 

 

 

HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

a) Would the project create a significant hazard to 

the public or the environment through the 

routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous 

materials? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project operations would involve the routine transportation, use, or disposal of gasoline, oil and diesel used 

in the power equipment and as a fuel for torches, and herbicides for noxious weed treatments. Operations 

will follow all applicable state and federal laws.  

 

b) Would the project create a significant hazard to 

the public or the environment through 

reasonably foreseeable upset and/or accident 

conditions involving the release of hazardous 

materials into the environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Equipment used to implement the project will be fueled with diesel fuel.  A spill of this fuel could be 

hazardous to the environment.  Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project Best Management Practices (BMPs) on 

page 14 is designed to ensure that an accidental spill will not harm the environment.   

 

All personnel will wear the appropriate personal protection equipment.  Equipment used on this project will 

not be serviced in locations where grease, oil, or fuel could pass into a watercourse. The project does not 

present any unusual risks because all fuels will be handled safely and in accordance with standard best 

practices.  Furthermore, even in a worst-case spill scenario, the impacts of a spill of 10-100 gallons of diesel 

or gasoline, the maximum likely to be present on site at any time, in a remote area far from human habitation 

are not likely to be significant. 

 

The proposed project includes the use of herbicides to control emergent brush. The proposed applications 

would comply with all applicable state and federal regulations for the safe use of pesticides (including 

label requirements), and will be kept out of the WLPZ per Mitigation Measure HYD-1. 

c) Would the project emit hazardous emissions or 

handle hazardous or acutely hazardous 

materials, substances, or waste within one-

quarter mile of an existing or proposed school? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

No project activities are planned within ¼ miles of an existing or proposed school.  

 

d) Would the project be located on a site which is 

included on a list of hazardous materials sites 

compiled pursuant to Government Code § 

65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a 

significant hazard to the public or the 

environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

44 

 

The project is not located on a hazardous materials site.  

 

e) For a project located within an airport land use 

plan or, where such a plan has not been 

adopted, within two miles of a public airport or 

public use airport, would the project result in a 

safety hazard or excessive noise for people 

residing or working in the project area? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not inside the Airport Overlay for any airport under the Lassen County General Plan, and it is 

not within 2 miles of any airport.  

 

f) Would the project impair implementation of 

or physically interfere with an adopted 

emergency response plan or emergency 

evacuation plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not interfere with an evacuation plan because the project will never block or close any 

public road, and because, in the case of an emergency requiring evacuation, only a few people would be on 

the project site, so their evacuation would only add one or two vehicles to the remote rural roads that service 

the area.  This increase in evacuation traffic would be insignificant. The project is intended to slow future 

wildfire rate of spread, giving Lake Forest, Susanville, and Willow Creek Valley residents more time to 

evacuate during any future wildfire event.  

 

g) Would the project expose people or structures, 

either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk 

of loss, injury, or death involving wildland 

fires? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project involves some prescribed fire, i.e., intentional fire ignition. However, the ignitions will take 

place under such controlled conditions and with such advanced levels of professional supervision that the 

risk of wildfire escape is not significant. While about 1-1.5% of prescribed fires do escape control, the vast 

majority of human-caused wildfires do not start as prescribed fires. Furthermore, the project will decrease 

future wildfire hazards.  This is because the thinner, patchier fuel profile post-project is expected to slow 

future wildfire rate of spread, decreasing the exposure of people and structures to risks from wildfire. 

 

 

HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY 

a) Would the project violate any water quality 

standards or waste discharge requirements or 

otherwise substantially degrade surface or 

ground water quality? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The +/- 67,500-acre project location includes portions of the Eagle Drainage, Snow Storm Mountain, and Susan River 

Hydrologic Areas within the Susanville Hydrologic Unit.  The project watershed is functioning properly and 

exhibits high geomorphic, hydrologic and biotic integrity relative to its natural potential condition. The 

drainage network is generally stable. Physical, chemical, and biologic conditions suggest that soil, aquatic, 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

45 

 

and riparian systems are predominantly functional in terms of supporting beneficial uses.  The beneficial 

uses for the watershed identified within the Lahontan Regional Water Quality Control’s Basin Plan 

(LRWQCB 1995) for the Basins within the Lahontan Region, include:  

 MUN - Municipal 

 AGR – Irrigation and Stock Watering 

 IND – Industrial Service Supply 

 GWR – Ground Water Recharge 

 FISH – Fish Habitat 

 NAV – Waters used for shipping, travel, or other transportation 

 REC 1 – Water Contact Recreation, Canoeing and Rafting 

 REC 2 – Other Non-contact Water Recreation 

 COMM – Commercial and Sport fishing 

 WARM – Warm Freshwater Habitat 

 COLD – Cold Freshwater Habitat 

 MIGR – Habitat suitable for salmon and steelhead Migration 

 SPWN – Habitats suitable for spawning, reproduction, and development 

 WILD – Support terrestrial or wetland ecosystems 
 

The Susan River is listed on the 303(d) list of California impaired waters for indicator bacteria, unknown 

toxicity, nitrogen, turbidity, and total dissolved solids. Eagle Lake is on the 303(d) list for Nitrogen and 

Phosphorus. Mitigation measure HYD-1: Project BMPs will result in the project being hydrologically 

disconnected from these and other watercourses and lakes within the project area 

There are several Class I watercourses within the project area, including the Susan River, Eagle Lake , Piute 

Creek, Willow Creek, Round Valley Reservoir, and Mahogany Lake are Class 1 watercourses and 

waterbodies, as defined by the California Forest Practice Act. There are several Class 2 and Class 3 

watercourses that are tributaries to these resources within the project area. Watercourse and Lake Protection 

Zones (WLPZ’s) will be flagged along watercourses, and project activities within these zones will be limited 

to those that do not have the potential to impact water quality (See Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project 

Best Management Practices on page 14). Proposed hand-based activities such as hand-thinning, hand-piling 

and hand-grubbing have a negligible footprint and therefore are not included in this analysis.   

Prescribed fire projects have been designed with a 100’+ buffer to any perennial stream, and backing fire 

will be used into ephemeral drainages to reduce the intensity of fire, and thus of siltation, in drainages. No 

discernible direct or indirect effects to water quality would be expected as live vegetation within the buffer 

would be left to function as a sediment filter strip.   

Excessively disturbed areas within a WLPZ would be rehabilitated after conclusion of operations with 

compacted straw mulch, and/or slash over 90% of the area at a 2 inch depth (See Mitigation Measure HYD-

1: Project Best Management Practices on page 14). 

 

Mitigation Measure HYD-2 Timber waiver, stipulates that proposed activities will abide by the Lahontan 

RWCQB Timber Waiver program, and project proponents will consult with the Lahontan WQCB if there are 

proposed activities that could potentially impact water quality. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

46 

 

Cumulative effects: Direct and indirect effects from proposed vegetation treatments are minimal and short in 

duration, and therefore long term cumulative effects are not expected.  

Implementing best management practices and project mitigation measures such as streamside equipment 

exclusion zones would effectively protect streams from excessive project generated sediment, assuring that 

cumulative effects of the project do not adversely affect beneficial uses of water. 

The design of this project is such that minimal effects to hydrology resources would be expected from the 

proposed action as discussed above.  Possible effects to water quality and riparian areas depend upon the 

extent and intensity of the treatments particularly those involving ground disturbances. Potential effects on 

water quality and cumulative watershed effects may include increases in sediment delivered to streams. Some 

of the riparian areas may be lightly burned, but the effect should not be significant. Although a short-term 

degradation could occur, reintroduction of fire into this landscape and movement toward a more natural fire 

regime would have a long-term benefit. Mitigation measures and best management practices all contribute to 

the prevention of sediment delivery to streams and impacts to riparian areas. The amount of actual sediment 

delivery is expected to be negligible. Therefore streams, water bodies and riparian area are expected to 

experience minimal, short-term and negligible effects. 

b) Would the project substantially decrease 

groundwater supplies or interfere substantially 

with groundwater recharge such that the 

project may impede sustainable groundwater 

management of the basin? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project involves no on-site water pumping and the off-site water pumping to fill water tender trucks will 

not be significant.   

 

c) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, in a manner which 

would result in substantial on- or off-site 

erosion or siltation? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 

d) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, or substantially increase 

the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 

manner which would result in on- or off-site 

flooding? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

47 

 

e) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, or substantially increase 

the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 

manner which would create or contribute 

runoff water which would exceed the capacity 

of existing or planned stormwater drainage 

systems or provide substantial additional 

sources of polluted runoff? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 

f) Would the project substantially alter the 

existing drainage pattern of the site or area, 

including through the alteration of the course 

of a stream or river or through the addition of 

impervious surfaces, or substantially increase 

the rate or amount of surface runoff in a 

manner which would impede or redirect flows 

 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not alter drainage patterns or streamcourses or install any new impervious surfaces. 

 

g) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, 

would the project risk release of pollutants 

due to project inundation? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not in a flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zone. 

 

h) Would the project conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of a water quality control plan 

or sustainable groundwater management plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater 

management plan. 

 

LAND USE AND PLANNING 

a) Would the project physically divide an 

established community? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project would not physically divide an established community. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

48 

 

 

b) Would the project cause a significant 

environmental impact due to a conflict with 

any land use plan, policy, or regulation 

adopted for the purpose of avoiding or 

mitigating an environmental effect? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project activities will not alter any existing land use. The project complies with zoning and plan designations 

as documented in the Lassen County General Plan (2010).  

 

 

MINERAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project result in the loss of 

availability of a known mineral resource that 

would be of value to the region and the 

residents of the state? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project site does not contain any known mineral resources of value or of local importance. 

 

b) Would the project result in the loss of 

availability of a locally important mineral 

resource recovery site delineated on a local 

general plan, specific plan, or other land use 

plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not change the future availability of any mineral resources. 

 

 

NOISE 

a) Would the project result in generation of a 

substantial temporary or permanent increase 

in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the 

project in excess of standards established in 

the local general plan or noise ordinance, or in 

other applicable local, state, or federal 

standards? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Project implementation will require equipment use.  Once the work is complete, the project site will return to 

its natural state with no new sources of noise other than those already existing. There will be temporary noise 

during project implementation.  

 

b) Would the project result in generation of 

excessive groundborne vibration or 

groundborne noise levels? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

49 

 

The land management activities contemplated in the project description will not generate groundborne noise 

or vibrations.  

 

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a 

private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 

where such a plan has not been adopted, 

within two miles of a public airport or public 

use airport, would the project expose people 

residing or working in the project area to 

excessive noise levels? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is not within an airport land use plan overlay or within 2 miles of any airport. 

 

 

POPULATION AND HOUSING 

a) Would the project induce substantial 

unplanned population growth in an area, either 

directly (for example, by proposing new homes 

and businesses) or indirectly (for example, 

through extension of roads or other 

infrastructure)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There are no proposed activities that would directly or indirectly promote population growth in the area. 

 

b) Would the project displace substantial numbers 

of existing people or housing, necessitating the 

construction of replacement housing 

elsewhere? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The proposed project activities will not result in the displacement of people or housing 

 

PUBLIC SERVICES 

a) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for fire 

protection? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing fire protection services. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

50 

 

b) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for police 

protection? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing police protection services. 

 

c) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

other performance objectives for schools? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing school services. 

 

d) Would the project result in substantial 

adverse physical impacts associated with the 

provision of new or physically altered 

governmental facilities, or the need for new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, 

the construction of which could cause 

significant environmental impacts, in order to 

maintain acceptable service ratios, response 

times, or other performance objectives for 

parks? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing park services. 

 

e) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision 

of new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, or the need for new or physically 

altered governmental facilities, the 

construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

51 

 

other performance objectives for other public 

facilities? 

The project will not impact the provision, or the need for governmental facilities.  The project will not 

impact existing public facilities. 

 

 

RECREATION 

a) Would the project increase the use of existing 

neighborhood and regional parks or other 

recreational facilities such that substantial 

physical deterioration of the facility would 

occur or be accelerated? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreation 

facilities. 

 

b) Would the project include recreational 

facilities or require the construction or 

expansion of recreational facilities that might 

have an adverse physical effect on the 

environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not include, construct, or expand any recreational facilities. 

 

 

TRANSPORTATION 

a) Would the project conflict with a program, 

plan, ordinance or policy addressing the 

circulation system, including transit, roadway, 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

There are seasonal private roads within the project area that are accessed through locked property gates and 

are used only by those with permission to access the properties. The project does not alter any existing 

roadways. Because of locked gates, these internal roads have no users other than those with permission. 

Therefore, this project will have no impact on traffic circulation patterns.  

 

b) Would the project conflict or be inconsistent 

with CEQA Guidelines § 15064.3(b)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

While this project will require some vehicle miles traveled, the increase will be temporary and project-

focused and will not exceed a threshold of significance. The project will not result in any sustained change in 

vehicle miles traveled in the region. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

52 

 

c) Would the project substantially increase 

hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., 

sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or 

incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not include any alteration in the design or use of existing transportation systems. 

 

d) Would the project result in inadequate 

emergency access? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

No road, including internal roads, will be altered in such a way as to decrease emergency access. A goal of 

the project is to improve ingress and egress within the project area for wildfire protection. 

 

 

TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the  significance of a tribal cultural 

resource, defined in Public Resources Code § 

21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 

landscape that is geographically defined in 

terms of the size and scope of the landscape, 

sacred place, or object with cultural value to a 

California Native American tribe, and that is 

listed or eligible for listing in the California 

Register of  Historical Resources, or in a local 

register of historical resources as defined in 

Public Resources Code § 5020.1(k)? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The Cal FIRE Native American contact list (Cal FIRE 2023) and CA Native American Heritage Commission 

contact list (NAHC 2023) identifies the following Tribes and tribal groups as having aboriginal ties to, and 

interest in, projects that occur in Lassen County: 

 

 Greenville Rancheria of Maidu Indians; 

 Honey Lake Maidu 

 Maidu Cultural and Development Group;  

 Mooretown Rancheria; 

 Pit River Tribe of California 

 Susanville Indian Rancheria 

 Tsi Akim Maidu; 

 Wadatakuta Band of Northern Paiute of the Honey Lake Valley 

 Washoe Tribe of California and Nevada 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

53 

 

These Tribes and groups have sacred sites that are not always identified through archaeological surveys, 

including cemeteries, places of prayer, and unique geologic features that are important to their creation 

stories and history.  Scoping letters, including a description of the proposed action, request for confidential 

information, and an invitation to consult on the project was mailed or emailed to the Tribes and groups listed 

above, as well as the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) on November 29, 2023. No comments 

have been received to date.  Susanville Indian Rancheria (SIR) lands held in Trust are within the project area, 

and SIR is interested in participating in the project to develop a fuel break around the Upper Rancheria, north 

of the City of Susanville as well as restore black oak stands, bitterbrush and sagebrush habitat through 

removal of encroaching western juniper and reduction of brush density. SIR is also interested in 

reintroducing cultural burns and supportive of efforts to restore habitats within the region to pre-contact 

conditions. One of projects main goals is to provide for the safe and permanent re-introduction of prescribed 

and cultural fire as a stewardship tool.  

 

The project will enhance living cultural resources (e.g. plants and animals). Mitigation Measure CUL-1: 

Avoidance of Cultural Resources; Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural 

Resources; and Mitigation Measure CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains all detailed on page 

12. would be employed and applied to all cultural resources within the project area, including those 

identified by Tribes as significant. The project would have a positive indirect effect on cultural resources 

because of reduced potential for high intensity wildfire. 

 

b) Would the project cause a substantial adverse 

change in the  significance of a tribal cultural 

resource, defined in Public Resources Code § 

21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 

landscape that is geographically defined in 

terms of the size and scope of the landscape, 

sacred place, or object with cultural value to a 

California Native American tribe, and that is: 

A resource determined by the lead agency, in 

its discretion and supported by substantial 

evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria 

set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 

Resources Code § 5024.1?  In applying the 

criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 

Resource Code § 5024.1, the lead agency shall 

consider the significance of the resource to a 

California Native American tribe. 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will enhance living cultural resources (e.g. plants and animals). Mitigation Measure 

CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources; Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of 

Cultural Resources; and Mitigation Measure CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains all 

detailed on page 12 will be employed and applied to all cultural resources within the project area, 

including those identified by Tribes as significant. The project would have a positive indirect effect on 

cultural resources because of reduced potential for high intensity wildfire. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

54 

 

UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS 

 

a) Would the project require or result in the 

relocation or construction of new or expanded 

water, wastewater treatment or storm water 

drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 

telecommunications facilities, the 

construction or relocation of which could 

cause significant environmental effects? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not result in the relocation or construction of new utilities. 

 

b) Would the project have sufficient water 

supplies available to serve the project and 

reasonably foreseeable future development 

during normal, dry and multiple dry years? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is a restoration project that will not affect utilities. 

 

c) Would the project result in a determination by 

the wastewater treatment provider that serves 

or may serve the project that it has adequate 

capacity to serve the project’s projected 

demand, in addition to the provider’s existing 

commitments? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project does not involve the use of utilities or public service systems. 

 

d) Would the project generate solid waste in 

excess of State or local standards, or in excess 

of the capacity of local infrastructure, or 

otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste 

reduction goals? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will not generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of 

local infrastructure 

 

e) Would the project comply with federal, state, 

and local management and reduction statutes 

and regulations related to solid waste? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations 

related to solid waste. 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

55 

 

WILDFIRE 

a) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project substantially 

impair an adopted emergency response plan 

or emergency evacuation plan? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

Historic pictures and accounts indicate that the project area at the time of European settlement in the 19
th

 and 

early 20
th

 century was more of an open conifer/oak woodland where periodic wildfire (and fires started by 

indigenous peoples) could creep through the understory at low intensity.  Based on pre-settlement tree ring 

data the Fire Return Interval (FRI) was 5-20 years for most of the conifer habitat types within the project 

area (Taylor 2000). Post-settlement the FRI averages +40 years. This decrease in fire frequency, along with 

logging and grazing practices of the last century have resulted in a project area today characterized by a 

higher density of smaller diameter trees, with an understory of evergreen schlerophyll shrubs in genera such 

as Artemesia, Purshia, Ericameria, Ceanothus, and Arctostaphylos, that now dominate many sites at low to 

middle elevations throughout California.  

 

Plants in this ecosystem are adapted to this fire regime.  Fire adaptations include vigorous stump sprouting 

and dormant seeds that build up during non-fire years and require fire for scarification.  Many of the shrubs 

promote fire through production of dead highly flammable branches and production of resins on their leaves. 

 

A variety of forest management and fuel reduction techniques will be used to reduce the fuel load of ground 

fuels, coarse woody debris, as well as a portion of the above ground biomass.  The purpose of these proposed 

treatments is to reduce the risk of large damaging fires by creating conditions that increase effectiveness of 

fire suppression.   

 

Through forest management, land managers can have a say in the timing and intensity of the fire. Land 

managers can also lessen the impacts or provide benefits for other environmental resources.  Fire hazard 

reduction may be an objective of this project; however, there are other objectives such as wildlife habitat 

improvement, range improvement, enhancement of the aesthetic appearance, and improved safety by 

reducing the amount of dead and dying vegetation.  If a wildfire does happen to enter an area that was 

treated, the wildfire may be contained sooner with reduced area burned at high intensity. The reduced 

number of acres or fire intensity will have benefits to other resource, including environmental resources, 

public health, and public and firefighter safety.  

 

The project places such small and incidental demands on local roads and fire protection services that it will 

not substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan.   

b) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project due to slope, 

prevailing winds, and other factors, 

exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose 

project occupants to, pollutant concentrations 

from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a 

wildfire? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

56 

 

The desired fire intensity is low to moderate for proposed prescribed fires. A prescribed burn plan will be 

developed for each proposed prescribed fire prior to implementation that outlines the parameters (timing, 

weather, fuel moisture, etc…) necessary to implement the project to ensure that the fire remains low to 

moderate intensity and does not escape the project perimeter as well as identify protocols should the fire 

escape (See Mitigation Measure FIRE-1: Burn Plan).  All prescribed fire activities carry a risk of fire 

escape, but the project design has reduced this risk below a significant level. By conducting burns in the off-

season and with highly trained fire professionals on site, the project reduces the risk of wildfire below the 

level of risk associated with the no-project alternative.  Spotting outside of fire lines should not be a problem 

with correct firing methods and weather patterns as prescribed in the burn plan. Tree ringing (clearing fuel 

away from the base of trees) in advance of burning will reduce tree mortality and spotting potential.  

Perimeter fire lines (roads and existing trails) will be in place and black line will be added to strengthen 

control lines as needed. Furthermore, by reducing fuels while leaving slope and other factors unchanged, the 

project will reduce, not exacerbate the effects of any future wildfire. 

 

c) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project require the 

installation or maintenance of associated 

infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 

emergency water sources, power lines or other 

utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that 

may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to 

the environment? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project will require some road maintenance, which comes with an extremely small incidental fire risk.  

Most project personnel will be trained fire professionals, which reduces the risk that the project will start an 

uncontrolled wildfire. 

 

d) If located in or near state responsibility areas 

or lands classified as very high fire hazard 

severity zones, would the project expose 

people or structures to significant risks, 

including downslope or downstream flooding 

or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire 

slope instability, or drainage changes? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

All prescribed fire carries some risk of increased runoff and siltation during subsequent storms, but the 

project’s remote location and buffers to perennial streams reduce the hazard of runoff/flooding and 

landslides resulting from the prescribed fire component of the project.  Furthermore, by reducing the likely 

severity of future fires, the project reduces the future flooding/landslide hazard to people and structures 

downstream, compared to the no-project alternative. 

 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

57 

 

MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

a) Would the project have the potential to 

substantially degrade the quality of the 

environment, substantially reduce the habitat 

of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or 

wildlife population to drop below self-

sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant 

or animal community, substantially reduce the 

number or restrict the range of an endangered, 

rare, or threatened species, or eliminate 

important examples of the major periods of 

California history or prehistory? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

The project is an ecological enhancement project intended to increase habitat suitability for a wide range of 

native species while reducing invasive species.  The project restores regular, low-intensity fire to a landscape 

that has been fire-excluded since the 19
th

 century in some areas of the project; the implementation of forest 

management techniques and intentional reintroduction of patchy fire is expected to promote biodiversity as it 

has done on countless other sites across California.  The project will result in some species being less 

abundant and some being more abundant, but these shifts in abundance will be within the natural range of 

variation and will not lead to listing of any species.  Careful study has resulted in a project design extremely 

unlikely, in the opinion of wildlife and botany specialists, to substantially degrade the quality of the 

environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population 

to drop below self-sustaining levels to eliminate a plant or animal community, substantially reduce the 

number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal.  

 

According to the opinions of numerous tribal cultural resources experts, the project, with mitigations 

incorporated, will reintroduce a Native American land management tool to the landscape and not eliminate 

any important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. 

 

As stated above, all prescribed fire carries some risk of (1) wildfire escape, and (2) increased runoff and 

siltation during subsequent storms.  Design features incorporated into this project reduce these risks below a 

level of significance.  For example, the project’s remote location and buffers to perennial streams reduce the 

hazard of runoff/flooding and landslides resulting from prescribed fires.  Furthermore, by reducing the likely 

severity of future fires, the project reduces the future flooding/landslide hazard to people and structures 

downstream, compared to the no-project alternative.  As another example, by conducting burns in the off-

season and with highly trained fire professionals on site, the project reduces the risk of wildfire below the 

level of risk associated with the no-project alternative. 
 

With the implementation of mitigation measures included in the Initial Study, the proposed project would not 

degrade the quality of the environment; result in an adverse impact on fish, wildlife, or plant species 

including special status species, or prehistoric or historic cultural resources.  

 

b) Would the project have impacts that are 

individually limited, but cumulatively 

considerable? (“Cumulatively considerable” 

means that the incremental effects of a project 

are considerable when viewed in connection 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

58 

 

with the effects of past projects, the effects of 

other current projects, and the effects of 

probable future projects.) 

The project is part of a wider program of improve forest/woodland/shrub health, improved resilience to 

wildlife, and fire reintroduction across the Region. Wide-scale reintroduction of prescribed fire is a stated 

goal of the State of California, as expressed in mandates of the California Board of Forestry/CAL FIRE, the 

Sierra Nevada Conservancy, the Department of Conservation, and numerous other agencies.  The cumulative 

effects of this wide-scale effort will be, overall, ecologically positive.  Cumulative negative impacts could 

include that some species will be less abundant, some drainages could experience transient peaks in siltation, 

and some air quality impacts could be felt by sensitive populations. However, these impacts will be less than 

significant when compared to the likely catastrophic wildfire impacts of not improving ecosystem health and 

reintroducing prescribed fire.   

 

Individual impacts are limited with this project and cumulatively are not considerable when viewed in 

connection to past or future projects.   

 

c) Would the project have environmental effects 

that would cause substantial adverse effects on 

human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

with Mitigation 
Incorporated 

 

 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 
 
 

 

No Impact 
 
 
 
 

 

This project does not have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on human 

beings. 

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

59 

 

APPENDIX A 

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan 

In accordance with CEQA Guidelines § 15074(d), when adopting a mitigated negative declaration, the lead 

agency will adopt a mitigation monitoring and reporting plan (MMRP) that ensures compliance with 

mitigation measures required for project approval. Honey Lake Valley RCD is the lead agency for the above-

listed project and has developed this MMRP as a part of the final IS-MND supporting the project. This 

MMRP lists the mitigation measures developed in the IS-MND that were designed to reduce environmental 

impacts to a less-than-significant level.  This MMRP also identifies the party responsible for implementing 

the measure, defines when the mitigation measure must be implemented, and which party or public agency is 

responsible for ensuring compliance with the measure. 

 

POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

The following is a list of the resources that will be potentially affected by the project and the mitigation 

measures made part of the Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration. 

 

Mitigation Measure AGR-1 Tree protection – Pile burning and broadcast fire: Pile burning and 

broadcast burning shall be conducted in a manner which will not damage residual trees and reproduction. 

Conifer and oak trees will be protected through use of a cool prescription and/or chaparral understory will be 

cleared around trees for protection.  Fire will be maintained at a low intensity that is not expected to harm 

trees. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure AIR-1 Permits: Mitigation measures include complying with air quality permits issued 

by LCAPCD for all prescribed burning. A Smoke Management Plan would be required prior to any 

prescribed fire. The smoke management plan is reviewed and approved by LCAPCD. 

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partner implementing the project and the LCAPCD 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 

 
Mitigation Measure BIO-1: Botanical Resources:  Special status plants species including populations of 

Alisma gramineum (CNPS rank 2B.2); Botrychium crenulatum (CNPS Rank 2B.2); Ranunculus macounii 

(CNPS Rank 2B.2), and Rhamnus alnifolia (CNPS Rank 2B.2) identified during botanical surveys conducted 

for this project or during project layout will be avoided through mapping and/or flagged when appropriate, 

with the exception of broadcast fire.  

 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

60 

 

Schedule: Prior and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party:  Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 

 
Mitigation Measure BIO-2: Riparian Area Protection: Before any riparian vegetation removal or work 

within the bed bank or channel of a stream, creek, or river, project proponents will coordinate with the 

Department to ensure compliance with Section 1600 of the Fish and Game Code. 

Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 

 
Mitigation Measure BIO-3: Noxious Weeds: Prevent spread of invasive species with equipment: Use 

contract clauses to require that the activities of contractors are conducted to prevent and control the 

introduction, establishment, and spread of aquatic and terrestrial invasive species. For example, where 

determined to be appropriate, use agreement clauses to require contractors to abide by vehicle and equipment 

cleaning requirements/standards prior to using the vehicle or equipment within project area. 

Schedule: Prior to, during, and after project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 
Mitigation Measure BIO-4: Staging areas: Do not stage equipment, materials, or crews in areas infested 

with invasive plant species where there is a risk of spread to areas of low infestation. 

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-5: Terrestrial wildlife BMPs: Best Management Practices will be applied for 

protecting wildlife and wildlife habitat, including: 

 New wildlife findings: In the event of a verified threatened, endangered or sensitive species 

occurrence prior to or during project implementation, the appropriate limited operating periods 

would apply. Other mitigations may take place as agreed upon in consultation with CDFW. 

 Snags: Retain snags when possible for wildlife habitat.  

 Structure trees: Retain and protect high value wildlife habitat trees (trees with multiple tops,  

broken tops, rot, cavities, and other formations) that create structure for nests and dens. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

61 

 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 

 
 Mitigation Measure CUL-1: Avoidance of Cultural Resources: Cultural resources present within the 

project area have not been formally evaluated to determine eligibility for listing on the CRHR. For the 

purposes of this project these cultural resources will be assumed potentially eligibility of state and federal 

registers and be avoided. Project proponents will ensure that cultural resources are not adversely affected by 

ground disturbing activities. If cultural resources cannot be avoided and ground disturbance will occur within 

the recorded site limits than the site(s) will be formally evaluated to determine if they meet the regulatory 

criteria for eligibility to the CRHR.  

Schedule: Prior to and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure CUL-2: Unanticipated Discovery of Cultural Resources:  If a cultural resource is 

discovered within a project area after the project has been approved, the following procedures apply:  

 

1. Project activities within 100 feet of the newly discovered cultural resource shall be immediately 

halted. 

2. A qualified professional archaeologist or RPF with CALFIRE Archaeological Training Certification 

shall be immediately notified. 

3. The archaeologist shall evaluate the new discovery and develop appropriate protection measures. 

4. The archaeologist shall ensure that the newly discovered site is recorded and its discovery and 

protection measures are documented in the project files. 

5. If the newly discovered site is a Native American Archaeological or Cultural Site, the Archaeologist 

shall notify the appropriate Native American tribal group and the NAHC, if appropriate. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure CUL-3: Encountering Native American Remains: Although unlikely, if human 

remains are encountered, all work must stop in the immediate vicinity of the discovered remains and the 

County Coroner and a qualified archaeologist must be notified immediately so that an evaluation can be 

performed. If the remains are deemed to be Native American and prehistoric, the Native American Heritage 

Commission must be contacted by the Coroner so that a “Most Likely Descendant” can be designated and 

further recommendations regarding treatment of the remains is provided. 

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

62 

 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 

Mitigation Measure GEO-1 Prescribed fire control line construction: Fire control lines are a concern for 

hydrology and soil quality risks, whether put in by hand or using mechanical means. They need to be 

rehabilitated for drainage using best management practices (BMPs). Fireline construction should be in 

accordance with all equipment restrictions.  

Schedule: Following project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 
Mitigation Measure GEO-2: Slope restrictions: Ground-based equipment would be restricted to slopes less 

than 50 percent.  Flagging, mapping, and meeting with equipment operators would be used to keep operators 

out of areas over 50% slope.  Exceptions may be made for short pitches of 100 feet slope distance, up to 75 

percent slope.  Exposed soils resulting from ground based equipment on slopes over 50% slope shall be 90% 

covered with operational slash or hay/straw to a minimum 2” depth prior to the winter period (Nov. 15 – 

April 1). This will occur after the conclusion of each individual operation and prior to each winter period for 

the life of the Project.      

Schedule: During project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 
Mitigation Measure HYD-1: Project Best Management Practices (BMPs): Protect water quality through the 

use of best management practices (BMPs) to prevent water quality degradation and to meet state water 

quality objectives relating to non-point sources of pollution. Best management practices utilized for this 

project are procedures and techniques that are incorporated in project actions and have been determined by 

the State of California to be the most effective, practicable means of preventing or reducing the amount of 

pollution generated by nonpoint sources to a level compatible with water quality goals. 

 

Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones (WLPZ) will be classified based on the California Forest Practice 

Rules §936.5 – Procedures for Determining Watercourse and Lake Protection Zones Widths and Protective 

Measures.  WLPZs shall be identified on the ground with flagging prior to implementation of treatments.  

These zones will be: 

 

Watercourse Classification Slope 0-30% Slope 30-50% Slope >50% 

Class I 75’ 100’ 150’ 

Class II (including all springs with surface water) 50’ 75’ 100’ 

Class III 25’ 50’ 50’ 

 

The standard best management practices for protecting water quality include: 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

63 

 

 Within the WLPZ, at least 50% of the total canopy covering the ground shall be left in a well-

distributed multi-storied stand configuration composed of a diversity of species similar to that found 

before the start of operations.  The residual overstory canopy shall be composed of at least 25% of the 

existing overstory conifers. 

 No heavy equipment shall operate within the WLPZ except on existing roads and crossings. Light 

weight equipment, including a mini-excavator, mini-chipper, and/or skid steer, may operate within 

the WLPZ when conditions are dry within the WLPZ. Equipment within the WLPZ will not turn 

around within the WLPZ, but will make minimal tracks perpendicular to the watercourse.  Any other 

types of light equipment that are used will not exceed the weights of those listed above.  Exposed 

soils within WLPZ shall be 90% covered with operational slash or hay/straw to a minimum 2” depth 

prior to the winter period (Nov. 15 – April 1). This will occur after the conclusion of each individual 

operation and prior to each winter period for the life of the Project.  

 No equipment shall refuel, be cleaned, or lubricated within the WLPZ.  

 Road based equipment being used for project implementation shall not be used during any time of the 

year when soils are saturated and excessive damage can occur as well as the potential discharge of 

sediment to watercourses.  

 There will be no mechanical fireline construction within the WLPZ. 

 No ignitions of broadcast (prescribed) burns would occur within the WLPZ. Broadcast burning 

would be allowed to back burn into the WLPZ, but in order to maintain stream temperatures and 

avoid sediment discharge to Class I and II streams piles and broadcast prescribed burns are 

restricted within the WLPZ  to the following distances from the stream: 

 

Watercourse Classification Slope 0-30% Slope 30-50% Slope >50% 

Class I 50-75’ 66-100’ 100-150’ 

Class II (including all springs with surface water) 33-50’ 50-75’ 66-100’ 

Schedule: Prior and during project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project and project contractors 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 
Mitigation Measure #15: FIRE-1: Prescribed (Rx) burn plan: Mitigation measures will include and be 

dependent upon: 
 Rx burns and pile burns can be scheduled for fall months into spring. Burn days will be dependent 

upon California Air Resources Board (CARB) forecasts, Cal Fire approval and will comply with 

all local and state regulations. 

 Rx broadcast burns will coincide with ecological emergence to promote a heterogeneous forest 

structure, reduce the abundance of invasive and limit impact to desired native species. 

 To reduce impacts to surrounding community’s Rx burn timing, planning and implementation will 

all be dictated by smoke management mitigations through CARB.  
 Prescribed burns will be coordinated with other planned burns to avoid cumulative impacts to air 

quality and wildfire safety. 
Schedule: Prior to project implementation 

Responsible Party: Project partners implementing the project in coordination with CAL FIRE 

Verification of Compliance: 

Monitoring Party: Project partner implementing the project. 



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

64 

 

Initials:  ____________ 

Date:     ____________ 
 
A copy of the completed MMRP will be forwarded to: Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

(HLVRCD), 170 Russell Ave., Susanville, CA 96130.   



Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

65 

 

PREPARERS OF THIS DOCUMENT 

Tim Keesey 

Ecologist/Registered Professional Forest (RPF #3134) 

TCK Ecological Consulting 

P.O. Box 9335 

Chico, CA 95927 

(530) 260-0934 

timkeesey@tckecological.com 

 

Kelsey Siemer, Distinct Manager 

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7271 

kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us  

 

Cade Mohler (RPF #2986), Managing Director 

Lassen Fire Safe Council, Inc. 

P.O. Box 816 

Susanville, CA 96130 

  

mailto:kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

66 

 

EXPERTS CONSULTED 

Brandie Cooper 

Natural Resources Director 

Susanville Indian Rancheria 

745 Joaquin St. 

Susanville, CA 96130 

bcooper@sir-nsn.gov  

(530) 251-5636 

 

Don Hankins 

Professor of Geography and Planning 

Chico State University 

Butte Hall, Room 539 

(530)-898-4104 

dhankins@csuchico.edu  

 

Ryan Hilburn 

Chief Forester, RPF #2782 

W.M. Beaty and Associates 

845 Butte St. 

Redding, CA 96001 

(530) 243-2783 

 

Ivan Houser 

Lassen/Modoc/Plumas Unit Forester, RPF #2649 

CALFIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-8503 

Ivan.houser@fire.ca.gov  

 

Karine Hunt 

Vegetation Management Specialist 

Sierra Pacific Industries (SPI) 

11605 Reading Rd. 

Red Bluff, CA 96080 

11605 Reading Rd. 

Red Bluff, CA 96080 

(530) 378-8307 

 

Adam Mattos 

Lassen-Modoc-Unit Assistant Chief of Operations 

CAL FIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

mailto:bcooper@sir-nsn.gov
mailto:dhankins@csuchico.edu
mailto:Ivan.houser@fire.ca.gov


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

67 

 

 

Phil Nemir (RPF #1666) 

P.O. Box 1717 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-2294 

philnemir@hotmail.com  

 

Mark Pustejovsky 

Forester-Regen Manager, RPF #2583 

Sierra Pacific Industries (SPI) 

11605 Reading Rd. 

Red Bluff, CA 96080 

(530) 527-9620 

 

Silas Rojas 

Emergency Services Chief 

Lassen County Office of Emergency Services (OES) 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-8504 

 

Tiffany Russell 

Rangeland Watershed Initiative Partner Biologist 

Point Blue/Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) – Susanville Office 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7272 

trussell@pointblue.org  

 

Glenn Schall 

Lassen-Plumas-Modoc Unit Vegetation Management Program (VMP), RPF #2958 

CAL FIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

 

Anne Stephens 

District Conservationist 

Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) – Susanville Office 

170 Russell Ave., Suite C 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-7272 

Anne.stephens@ca.usda.gov 

 

Todd Swickard 

Owner 

Five Dot Land & Cattle Co. 

707-005 U.S. Hwy 395 

mailto:philnemir@hotmail.com
mailto:trussell@pointblue.org
mailto:Anne.stephens@ca.usda.gov


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

68 

 

Standish, CA 96128 

(530) 254-6987 

 

Isaac Thornton 

Lassen-Modoc Unit Fire Captain  

CAL FIRE 

697-345 CA-36 

Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

 

Dan Varney 

District Fuels Management Officer (FMO) 

477-050 Eagle Lake Rd. 

Susanville, CA 96130 

Lassen National Forest, Eagle Lake Ranger District 

(530) 257-4188 

Daniel.varney@usda.gov  

mailto:Daniel.varney@usda.gov


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

69 

 

REFERENCES CITED 

Air Quality 

 

Lassen County Air Pollution Control District. 2023. Lassen County Air Pollution Control District, 

http://lassenair.org/rules.html  

  

Biological Resources 

 

Lassen County. 2000.  Lassen County General Plan, Elements and Area Plan Updates, 

http://lassencounty.org/resources/general/lassen-county-general-plan-elements-and-area-plan-

updates  

Hankins, D.L. 2013. The effects of indigenous prescribed fire on riparian vegetation in central 

California. Ecological Processes. 2:24. 

 

Hankins, D.L., 2015. Restoring Indigenous Prescribed Fires to California Oak Woodlands. In Standiford, 

Richard B.; Purcell, Kathryn L., tech. cords. 2015. Proceedings of the seventh California oak 

symposium: managing oak woodlands in a dynamic world. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-251. 

Berkeley, CA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station. 

579 p. 

 

Geology and Soils  

 

Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS). 2023. Web Soil Survey. 

https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/App/HomePage.htm 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Bolsinger, C.L. 1989. Shrubs of California Chaparral, Timberland, and Woodland: Area Ownership, 

and Stand Characteristics. 

Conrad, S. G. and D. R. Weise. 1998. Management of fire regimes, fuels, and fire effects in Southern 

California chaparral: lessons from the past and thoughts for the future. 

Mader, S. 2007. Climate Project: Carbon Sequestration and Storage by California Forests and Forest 

Products. [Technical Memorandum prepared for California Forests for the Next Century] 

CH2M Hill Sacramento, CA. 

Wiedinmeyer, C. and J. C. Neff. 2007. Estimates of CO2 from fires in the United States: Implications 

for carbon management. Carbon Balance and Management. 

Hydrology and Watershed 

 

Lahontan Regional Water Quality Control Board. 1995. Water Quality Control Plan for the Lahontan 

Region – North and South Basins.  

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/lahontan/water_issues/programs/basin_plan/references.html  

http://lassenair.org/rules.html
http://lassencounty.org/resources/general/lassen-county-general-plan-elements-and-area-plan-updates
http://lassencounty.org/resources/general/lassen-county-general-plan-elements-and-area-plan-updates
https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/App/HomePage.htm
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/lahontan/water_issues/programs/basin_plan/references.html


Initial Study-Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Proposed North Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project 

70 

 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

Cal FIRE. 2023. California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) Native American 

Contact List 9/12/2023 https://www.fire.ca.gov/what-we-do/natural-resource-

management/environmental-protection-program/cultural-resource-management  

Wildfire 

Taylor, A.H. 2000. Fire regimes and forest change in mid and upper montane forests of the southern 

Cascades, Lassen Volcanic National Park, California, USA. Journal of Biogeography 27: 87-104. 

https://www.fire.ca.gov/what-we-do/natural-resource-management/environmental-protection-program/cultural-resource-management
https://www.fire.ca.gov/what-we-do/natural-resource-management/environmental-protection-program/cultural-resource-management


 

 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO 
ADOPT A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

 
for 

 
North Susanville Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Fuel Treatments Project 

 
NOTICE is given that a Mitigated Negative Declaration has been prepared setting forth the 
findings that the following proposed action, North Susanville Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) 
Fuel Treatments Project, will have a less than significant adverse effect on the environment. The 
project area includes the north side of the City of Susanville, and wildlands north of Susanville in 
portions of the Eagle Drainage, Snow Storm Mountain, and Susan River Hydrologic Areas 
within the Susanville Hydrologic Unit (MDBM, Township 29N, Range 11E, Sections 2-4; T30N, 
R11E, Sections 1-18, 20-29, 32-36; T30N, R12E, Sections 1-22, 28-33; T31N, R10E, Sections 
13-14, 23-25, 36; T31N, R11E, Sections 1-5, 7-36; T31N, R12E, Sections 16-36). The project 
area includes suburbs of Susanville, scattered residential communities, non-industrial and 
industrial timberlands, Tribal lands held in Trust for the Susanville Indian Rancheria, and public 
lands managed by the Lassen National Forest, Bureau of Land Management – Eagle Lake Field 
Office, the County of Lassen, and the City of Susanville. The project area ranges from 4,250 to 
7,250 feet in elevation. 
 
This document is proposed to be adopted and has been filed with the Honey Lake Valley 
Resource Conservation District (RCD).  It is now available for inspection and review.  The 
review period for this Mitigated Negative Declaration is from December 8, 2023 through January 
7, 2024.  Written comments concerning this document will be accepted through the last day of 
the review period.  
 
For further information on this, contact: 
 
Kelsey Siemer, District Manager 
Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
170 Russell Ave., Suite C 
Susanville, CA 96130 
(530) 257-7271 
kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us  
 

mailto:kmarks@honeylakevalleyrcd.us


RESOLUTION NO. 2023-04

A RESOLUTION OF THE OF THE (GOVERNING BODY) OF Honey Lake Valley 
Resource Conservation District APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING 

THE EXECUTION OF A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING AND 
AUTHORIZING PARTICIPATION IN THE SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT 

AUTHORITY’S HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District, a public agency duly organized 
and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “ENTITY”), has 
determined that it is in the best interest and to the advantage of the ENTITY to participate in 
the Health Benefits Program offered by Special District Risk Management Authority (the 
“Authority”); and  

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed in 1986 in accordance with the provisions of California 
Government Code 6500 et seq., for the purpose of providing risk financing, risk management 
programs and other coverage protection programs; and 

WHEREAS, participation in Authority programs requires the ENTITY to execute and enter into a 
Memorandum of Understanding which states the purpose and participation requirements for 
the Health Benefits Program; and 

WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required by the laws of the State of California to exist, 
to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in connection with the 
consummation of the transactions authorized hereby do exist, have happened and have been 
performed in regular and due time, form and manner as required by law, and the ENTITY is now 
duly authorized and empowered, pursuant to each and every requirement of law, to 
consummate such transactions for the purpose, in the manner and upon the terms herein 
provided. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE ENTITY AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Findings.  The ENTITY’s Governing Body hereby specifically finds and determines that 
the actions authorized hereby relate to the public affairs of the ENTITY. 

Section 2. Memorandum of Understanding.  The Memorandum of Understanding, to be 
executed and entered into by and between the ENTITY and the Authority, in the form 
presented at this meeting and on file with the ENTITY’s Secretary, is hereby approved.  The 
ENTITY’s Governing Body and/or Authorized Officers (“The Authorized Officers”) are hereby 
authorized and directed, for and in the name and on behalf of the ENTITY, to execute and 
deliver to the Authority the Memorandum of Understanding. 

Section 3. Program Participation.  The ENTITY’s Governing Body approves participating in the 
Special District Risk Management Authority’s Health Benefits Program. 



Section 4. Severability.  If any provision of this resolution or the application thereof to any 
person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 
applications of the resolution which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 
application, and to this end the provisions of this resolution are severable. 
 
Section 5. Other Actions.  The Authorized Officers of the ENTITY are each hereby authorized 
and directed to execute and deliver any and all documents which are necessary in order to 
consummate the transactions authorized hereby and all such actions heretofore taken by such 
officers are hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 

Section 6. Effective Date.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage. 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this _____ day of __________________, 20_____ by the following vote: 

AYES:      

NOES:      

ABSENT:     

                                                                             
Name 

                                                                             
Title 

                                                                             
ENTITY Secretary 
 



                                                             

 

 

Special District Risk Management Authority       Page 1:4 Tel 800.537.7790   
                                                                                                                                                               Fax 916.231.4111 

                                                                                                                                                                                                      www.sdrma.org 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (HEREAFTER “MEMORANDUM”) IS 
ENTERED INTO BY AND BETWEEN THE SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT 
AUTHORITY (HEREAFTER “SDRMA”) AND THE PARTICIPATING PUBLIC ENTITY 

(HEREAFTER “ENTITY”) WHO IS SIGNATORY TO THIS MEMORANDUM. 

 WHEREAS, on August 1, 2006, SDRMA was appointed administrator for the purpose of 
enrolling small public entities into the Public Risk Innovation, Solutions and Management 
(PRISM) Health and/or Employee Benefits Small Group Program (hereinafter "PROGRAM"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the terms and conditions of the PROGRAM as well as benefit coverage, rates, 
assessments, and premiums are governed by the PRISM Health Committee and/or PRISM 
Employee Benefits Committee for the PROGRAM (the "COMMITTEE") and not SDRMA; and  
 
 WHEREAS, ENTITY desires to enroll and participate in the PROGRAM. 
  
 NOW THEREFORE, SDRMA and ENTITY agree as follows:  
      
1. PURPOSE. ENTITY is signatory to this MEMORANDUM for the express purpose of enrolling 

in the PROGRAM.  
 
2. ENTRY INTO PROGRAM. ENTITY shall enroll in the PROGRAM by making application through 

SDRMA which shall be subject to approval by the PROGRAM's Underwriter and 
governing documents and in accordance with applicable eligibility guidelines. 

 
3. MAINTENANCE OF EFFORT. PROGRAM is designed to provide an alternative health benefit 

solution to all participants of the ENTITY including active employees, retired employees 
(optional), dependents (optional) and public officials (optional). ENTITY public officials 
may participate in the PROGRAM only if they are currently being covered and their own 
ENTITY’s enabling act, plans and policies allow it. ENTITY must contribute at least the 
minimum percentage required by the eligibility requirements 

 
4. PREMIUMS. ENTITY understands that premiums and rates for the PROGRAM are set by the 

COMMITTEE. ENTITY will remit monthly premiums based upon rates established for 
each category of participants and the census of covered employees, public officials, 
dependents and retirees. 

 
Rates for the ENTITY and each category of participant will be determined by the 
COMMITTEE designated for the PROGRAM based upon advice from its consultants 
and/or a consulting Benefits Actuary and insurance carriers. In addition, SDRMA adds an 
administrative fee to premiums and rates for costs associated with administering the 
PROGRAM. Rates may vary depending upon factors including, but not limited to, 



                                                             

 

 

Special District Risk Management Authority       Page 2:4 Tel 800.537.7790   
                                                                                                                                                               Fax 916.231.4111 

                                                                                                                                                                                                      www.sdrma.org 

demographic characteristics, loss experience of all public entities participating in the 
PROGRAM and differences in benefits provided (plan design), if any.   

 
SDRMA will administrate a billing to ENTITY each month, with payments due by the date 
specified by SDRMA.  Payments received after the specified date will accrue penalties up 
to and including termination from the PROGRAM.  Premiums are based on a full month, 
and there are no partial months or prorated premiums. Enrollment for mid-year 
qualifying events and termination of coverage will be made in accordance with the 
SDRMA Program Administrative Guidelines. 

 
5. BENEFITS. Benefits provided to ENTITY participants shall be as set forth in ENTITY’s Plan 

Summary for the PROGRAM and as agreed upon between the ENTITY and its recognized 
employee organizations as applicable. Not all plan offerings will be available to ENTITY, 
and plans requested by ENTITY must be submitted to PROGRAM underwriter for 
approval. 

 
6. COVERAGE DOCUMENTS. Except as otherwise provided herein, coverage documents from 

each carrier outlining the coverage provided, including terms and conditions of 
coverage, are controlling with respect to the coverage of the PROGRAM and will be 
provided by SDRMA to each ENTITY. SDRMA will provide each ENTITY with additional 
documentation, defined as the SDRMA Program Administrative Guidelines which 
provide further details on administration of the PROGRAM. 

 
7.  PROGRAM FUNDING. It is the intent of this MEMORANDUM to provide for a fully funded 

PROGRAM by any or all of the following:  pooling risk; purchasing individual stop loss 
coverage to protect the pool from large claims; and purchasing aggregate stop loss 
coverage. 

 
8. ASSESSMENTS. Should the PROGRAM not be adequately funded for any reason, pro-rata 

assessments to the ENTITY may be utilized to ensure the approved funding level for 
applicable policy periods.  Any assessments which are deemed necessary to ensure 
approved funding levels shall be made upon the determination and approval of the 
COMMITTEE in accordance with the following: 

 
a. Assessments/dividends will be used sparingly. Generally, any over/under funding 

will be factored into renewal rates. 
 

b. If a dividend/assessment is declared, allocation will be based upon each ENTITY’S 
proportional share of total premiums paid for the preceding 3 years. An ENTITY must 
be a current participant to receive a dividend, except upon termination of the 
PROGRAM and distribution of assets. 

 



                                                             

 

 

Special District Risk Management Authority       Page 3:4 Tel 800.537.7790   
                                                                                                                                                               Fax 916.231.4111 

                                                                                                                                                                                                      www.sdrma.org 

c. ENTITY will be liable for assessments for 12 months following withdrawal from the 
PROGRAM. 

 
d. Fund equity will be evaluated on a total PROGRAM-wide basis as opposed to each 

year standing on its own. 
 
9. WITHDRAWAL. ENTITY may withdraw subject to the following condition: ENTITY shall 

notify SDRMA and the PROGRAM in writing of its intent to withdraw at least 90 days 
prior to their requested withdrawal date. ENTITY may rescind its notice of intent to 
withdraw. Once ENTITY withdraws from the PROGRAM, there is a 3-year waiting period 
to come back into the PROGRAM, and the ENTITY will be subject to underwriting 
approval again. 

 
10. LIAISON WITH SDRMA. Each ENTITY shall maintain staff to act as liaison with SDRMA and 

between the ENTITY and SDRMA’S designated PROGRAM representative. 
 
11. GOVERNING LAW. This MEMORANDUM shall be governed in accordance with the laws of 

the State of California.   
 
12. VENUE. Venue for any dispute or enforcement shall be in Sacramento, California. 
 
13. ATTORNEY FEES. The prevailing party in any dispute shall be entitled to an award of 

reasonable attorney fees. 
 
14. COMPLETE AGREEMENT. This MEMORANDUM together with the related PROGRAM 

documents constitutes the full and complete agreement of the ENTITY.  
 
15.  SEVERABILITY. Should any provision of this MEMORANDUM be judicially determined to be 

void or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect any remaining provision. 
 
16.  AMENDMENT OF MEMORANDUM. This MEMORANDUM may be amended by the SDRMA 

Board of Directors and such amendments are subject to approval of ENTITY’S designated 
representative, or alternate, who shall have authority to execute this MEMORANDUM.  
Any ENTITY who fails or refuses to execute an amendment to this MEMORANDUM shall 
be deemed to have withdrawn from the PROGRAM on the next annual renewal date. 

 
17.  EFFECTIVE DATE. This MEMORANDUM shall become effective on the later of the first date 

of coverage for the ENTITY or the date of signing of this MEMORANDUM by the Chief 
Executive Officer or Board President of SDRMA. 

 
18.  EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This MEMORANDUM may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which shall be an original, all of which shall constitute but one and 
the same instrument. 



                                                             

 

 

Special District Risk Management Authority       Page 4:4 Tel 800.537.7790   
                                                                                                                                                               Fax 916.231.4111 

                                                                                                                                                                                                      www.sdrma.org 

 
In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have executed the MEMORANDUM as of the date 
set forth below. 

 
 
 

   
 
Dated:       By:       
        

Special District Risk  
Management Authority 

 
 
Dated:       By:       

 
Honey Lake Valley Resource 
      Conservation District 

  
 
               
 
 



1 
 

 

 

To:  SDRMA/Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
From:  PRISM / AUS Underwriting 

Date:  November 28, 2023 

Re:  Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District:  Small Group 
Program Application Approval 

 
We are happy to approve the application of Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District 
for acceptance to participate in the PRISM Small Group program. 
 
As part of this acceptance, you will find two attachments to this letter: 

1. Program Underwriting & Eligibility Rules 
2. Program Participation Agreement 

 
The Underwriting and Eligibility Rules are designed to serve as a guide for program rules and 
expectations.  These rules outline expectations of member conduct within the program and have 
been established to protect both the pool and the member from actions that may increase the 
cost and/or risk in the program. 
 
The Program Participation Agreement details the final terms of acceptance and any special 
exceptions or terms that have been made as part of this approval.  Please read these terms 
carefully and contact your representative at SDRMA if you have any questions or require 
clarification(s). 
 
Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District’s completion and execution of the Program 
Participation Agreement will constitute full acceptance of the organization as a member of the 
PRISM Small Group program and deem it eligible to participate in the insurance coverage 
plan(s) applied for and approved in this agreement.  Please return the signed Program 
Participation Agreement to SDRMA. 
 
We thank you for your interest in the PRISM Small Group program and look forward to your 
participation in the program. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 

     John Astwood  

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY 

  

     Application is:     x  Accepted       Rejected  Case No. 

                                                                             
     Effective:  1‐12024 or 2‐1‐2024   Underwriter:    John Astwood  

                                                                              
     Date:  11/28/2023     By:    

                    
                              (Signature) 

       



2 
 

 

 

 
Health Program Eligibility Guidelines  

Active Full-Time Employees 
Full-time salaried or hourly employees who are actively at work at 
least 30 hours per week. 

Active Part-Time Employees 
Part-time employees who are actively at work at least 20 hours per 
week. 

Dependent Eligibility 

Eligible dependents are covered to age 26 and will terminate coverage 
first of the month following 26th Birthday.  Disabled dependents are 
covered regardless of age but must be approved by the plan 
administrator (claim fiduciary medical management) prior to annual 
enrollment. 

COBRA Participants Eligible to elect coverage through COBRA. 

Board members, Trustees, 
Council Members, or Other 
Elected officials 

Directors, board members, and other elected/appointed officials can 
only elect plan if they are eligible on the current plan and are subject 
to the same requirements as Active employees.  Exceptions can be 
made at the recommendation of AUS and with the approval of the 
PRISMHealth Committee. 

Retirees 

To qualify for Medicare plans and rates, retiree must be enrolled in 
Medicare Parts A&B at their own cost. 

Retired employees who are currently eligible and participating on the 
plan will be eligible to continue coverage under the program, if the 
coverage permits. Retirees who declined coverage may not enroll in 
any coverage at a subsequent enrollment date. Exceptions can be 
made at the recommendation of AUS. 

Medicare Eligible retirees must enroll in Medicare parts A&B 

  
 
 
Health Program Underwriting Guidelines (Continued on next page) 
Group Size Requirements 
Minimum/Maximum including 
Full‐Time Eligible Employees, Part‐Time 
Eligible Employees, Non‐Medicare Retirees, 
Medicare Retirees, Board Members, Trustees, 
Council Members, or Other Elected Officials 

Minimum: 2 
Maximum: 200 

Participation Guidelines 

Active Employees, Non‐Medicare Retirees, 

Medicare Retirees, Board Members, Trustees, 

Council Members, or Other Elected Officials 

 Minimum participation of 75% of all eligible population. 
 Non-Medicare Retirees will be thoroughly reviewed by 

AUS if they exceed 20% of the total covered population 
 Exceptions can be made at the recommendation of AUS 

and with the approval of the PRISMHealth Committee 
Employer Contributions 
Contributions should be structured to allocate cost for tiers with dependent coverage.  Cash-Back or 
"Cash-in-lieu-of" employer contributions are not preferred unless a specific exception has been made by 
underwriting. 
 
Gap Funding: Gap funding is an account established to run alongside a health plan that supplements out‐

of‐pocket medical expenses incurred through the plan and that would normally be paid by the covered 

individual.  PRISM offers High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) options that are underwritten to include the 

SMALL GROUP PROGRAM UNDERWRITING & ELIGIBILITY GUIDELINES 
(Subject to attached Custom Contingencies and Caveats section) 



3 
 

use of Health Savings Accounts (HSAs) for gap funding purposes.  The program offered HDHPs are not 

eligible to run alongside Health Reimbursement Arrangements (HRAs) or any other type of external gap 

funding plan or mechanism.  All other medical plans offered within the PRISMHealth portfolio (HMO, 

Silver PPO, Gold PPO, EPO, etc.)  are not considered eligible for gap funding of any type. 

Active Employees, Part‐Time Eligible 
Employees, Board Members, Trustees, Council 
Members, or Other Elected Officials 

Employer pays Minimum 75% of the single-only cost, 50% 
suggested contribution for dependents. 

Retirees No minimum employer contribution. 

Waiting Period 
Date of hire is not allowed unless hire date is on the first of the month. All plan changes resulting from 
Qualifying Events will be effective on the 1st of the month following the event.  Births and deaths are 
exceptions where coverage will be added/dropped on the event date rather than the first of the month 
following. If dependents are covered when a retiree or employee passes away, dependent coverage will 
continue to the end of the month. 
Waivers 
Coverage can only be waived with proof of group coverage through spouse, other group coverage, 
Medicare/Medi-Cal/Medicaid or COBRA. Waivers will be reviewed by AUS if they exceed 25% of the total 
covered population.  Exceptions can be made at the recommendation of underwriting and with the 
approval of the PRISMHealth Committee or PRISM staff.  Non-Program participants are excluded from this 
waiver definition (i.e. union carve-out, PORAC). 
Lock-out period 

Small group members will comply with the withdrawal and termination rules of the JPA in which they 
contract for coverage. 

Plan Selections and Combinations Guidelines 

Plan Selections 
Subject to underwriting review and approval: 
 2-100 enrolled lives: 2 non-Kaiser plans + 1 Kaiser plan 
 101-200 enrolled lives: 3 non-Kaiser plans + 1 Kaiser plan 

Plan Combinations 

 Only 1 non-Kaiser HMO or HDHP plan may be offered to an employee group 
 Groups requesting more than 1 non-Kaiser HMO or more than 1 HDHP require 

approval from PRISM/AUS underwriting 
 Future plan changes are subject to review and approval by PRISM/AUS 

underwriting 

Other Programs 

 The PRISMHealth Program will be offered to all agency represented 
and non-represented employees in most situations. 

 The PRISMHealth Program will consider covering less than the 
entire agency population (carve-out option) only at the time of initial 
entry into the Program.   

 All carve-out proposals must be approved by Alliant Underwriting 
Services and disclosed to the PRISMHealth Committee. 

 Alliant Underwriting Services must be able to evaluate the entire 
agency population including any proposed carve-out population for 
compliance with all other Underwriting Guidelines (i.e. employer 
contribution, participation, retiree enrollment, etc.).  

 If a carve-out scenario for one or more segments of the represented 
or non-represented employee population is approved at the time of 
entry into the PRISMHealth Program, the Member may only exit the 



4 
 

Program in the exact same manner they entered. No population 
carve-outs will be allowed once a member has entered the Program. 

 For all PRISMHealth Members participating in the Program as of 
January 1, 2023, the current represented and non-represented 
employee participation structure will be considered as the entry 
structure. Future carve-outs for existing Members will not be allowed. 

 The PRISMHealth Program will consider the option for employers to 
offer a Medicare Advantage plan(s) alongside other options offered 
to Medicare-eligible retirees and dependents. The in-force Medicare 
Advantage plans and enrollment will be reviewed and approved via 
the Underwriting process and disclosed to the PRISMHealth 
Committee.  

 

 
 
Dental, Vision, Life, Disability and EAP Program Eligibility Guidelines 

The following underwriting guidelines assume the employer will only be offering the PRISM Small Group 

coverage plans to an employee group. 

Active Full-Time 
Employees 

Full-time salaried or hourly employees who are actively at work at least 30 
hours per week. 

Active Part-Time 
Employees 

Part-time employees who are actively at work at least 20 hours per week. 

Dependent 
Eligibility 

 Eligible dependents are covered to age 26 and will terminate coverage 
first of the month following 26th Birthday.  Disabled dependents are 
covered regardless of age but must be approved by the plan administrator 
(claim fiduciary medical management) prior to annual enrollment. 

COBRA Participants 
 Dental & Vision: Eligible to elect coverage through COBRA 
 Life/AD&D, Disability, EAP: Not eligible to elect coverage through COBRA 

Board members, 
Trustees, Council 
Members, or Other 
Elected officials 

 Dental, Vision, Life/AD&D, EAP: Directors, board members, and other 
elected/appointed officials can only elect plan if they are eligible on the 
current plan and are subject to the same requirements as Active 
employees. 

 Supplemental Life and Disability: Not eligible 

Retirees  
 Dental and Vision: Eligible 
 Life/AD&D, Disability, and EAP: Not eligible 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 
 

 
Dental, Vision, Life, Disability and EAP Program Underwriting Guidelines 
 
 
 

Group Size Requirements 

Minimum/Maximum include Full‐time 
Eligible Employees, Part‐Time Eligible 

Employees, Non‐Medicare Retirees, and 
Medicare Retirees, Board Members, 
Trustees, Council Members, or Other 
Elected officials 

Minimum: 2  
Maximum: Up to 50* 

Participation Guidelines 

Active Employees, Retirees and Board 
Members, Trustees, Council Members, or 
Other Elected officials 

Dental and Vision: 75% of all eligible 
Life/AD&D, Disability, and EAP: 75% of all eligible 
(Retirees not eligible) 

Employer Contributions 

Contributions should be structured to allocate cost for tiers with dependent coverage.  Cash-Back or 
"Cash-in-lieu-of" employer contributions are not permitted unless a specific exception* has been made 
by underwriting. 

Active Employees, Board members, 
Trustees, Council Members, or Other 
Elected officials  

Employer pays 75% of the single-only cost, except for 
Supplemental Life. 50% suggested contribution for 
dependents. 

Retirees 
No minimum employer contribution (for eligible lines of 
coverage). 

Lock-out period 

Small group members will comply with the withdrawal and termination rules of the JPA in which they 
contract for coverage. 

Plan Selection Guidelines 

Plan Selection 

 Dental: Employers can select 1 Dental PPO plan + 1 
Dental DHMO 

 Vision/EAP: Employers can select one plan to offer 
their employees and dependents 

 Basic Life and AD&D: Employer can select a plan for 
each class of employee (Designated by level of 
benefit) 

* At the discretion of Underwriting.  See Special Acceptance Terms section of Program Participation 

Agreement for further detail. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



6 
 

 

The coverage and premiums offered under this agreement are based on the information provided.  The submission 
of any false information may result in the denial of coverage.  The provision of known false or misleading information 
shall  render  this  agreement  null  and  void,  and  any  insurance  coverage  offered  hereunder  shall  be withdrawn 
retroactively to the effective date of the policy.    
Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District is approved for the following products: 

                                                       

   Health  x     Dental       Vision  x     Life       Disability       EAP       

                                                        

Future underwriting approval is required for coverage not requested / approved above.             
 
Special Acceptance Terms 

 Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District is eligible to enroll in up to two medical plans+ 1 Kaiser 
plan) subject to plan combination limitations. (refer to Plan Combination section) 

 Rate proposal assumes full takeover of existing benefit plans and carriers. 

 Proof of other group coverage is required for all employees waiving coverage. 
 
Standard Acceptance Terms 

 The Underwriting & Eligibility Rules are part of the terms of this agreement and apply unless stated 
otherwise in the Special Acceptance Terms. 

 Proposed rates are guaranteed ONLY for the current population of Honey Lake Valley Resource 
Conservation District, including all currently covered active employees, retirees and public officials (where 
approved). 

 This proposal includes applicable Affordable Care Act Government Fees (Health plans only). 

 Rate proposal assumes current enrollment as provided in census file submitted in Interest Packet.  PRISM 
reserves the right to potentially non‐renew if the following changes occur and no corrective action is taken 
by the member organization: 

o If total program enrollment changes by more than 10%. 
o If the distribution of Actives versus non‐Medicare Retirees changes by more than 10%. 
o If the tiered enrollment distribution changes by more than 10%. 
o If employer's contribution towards the employee only cost falls below 75%.  This proposal assumes 

current employer contribution is at least 75% of employee‐only cost unless a specific exception has 
been provided by underwriting. Contribution requirement does not apply to Supplemental Life. 
 

  
GENERAL AGREEMENT AND SIGNATURE 

Effective date requested:_________________________________________ (Actual date will be assigned by PRISM if 

application is accepted).  Application is hereby made to PRISM or the appropriate affiliated company for Employee 

Benefits coverage identified above.  If this application is accepted, this Program Participation Agreement will become 

part of the agreement to join the program. 

Upon Acceptance of the application, Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District will inform all persons who are 

eligible for coverage that they may apply for PRISM coverage under the Agreement/Policy. By signing below Honey 

Lake Valley Resource Conservation District acknowledges receipt of and adherence to PRISM’s underwriting and 

eligibility guidelines and the terms of the Program Participation Agreement. 

By:__________________________________________________Title:____________________________ 
                           (Authorized Signature) 

Printed Name:_________________________________________________________________________ 

PROGRAM PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 



January 2024

February 2024

March 2024

April 2024

May 2024

June 2024

January

February

March

April

May

June

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

01/01/24 (Mon) Holiday
01/11/24 (Thu) WAC Meeting
01/15/24 (Mon) Holiday
01/25/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

02/19/24 (Mon) Holiday
02/22/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

03/01/24 (Fri) Deadline
03/14/24 (Thu) WAC Meeting
03/28/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

04/25/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

05/01/24 (Wed) Deadline
05/09/24 (Thu) WAC Meeting
05/23/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

05/27/24 (Mon) Holiday

06/12/24 (Wed) Deadline
06/27/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

 - 

New Year's Day (observed 1/1/2024)
Organizational Meeting
Martin Luther King Day
Organizational Meeting, Adopt Calendar, FYE24 Mid-Year Budget
Review, WAC Appointments, DM Mid-Year Evaluation

President's Day
1st Reading - Strategic/Annual Operations Plan
(AOP) Review, FYE25 RCD/WM Draft Budget Review

Irrigation Season Begins
FYE25 Draft Budget Review, Direct Billing
1st Reading - FYE25 RCD/WM Budget, 2nd Reading - Strategic/
AOP

Adopt Strategic/AOP, 2nd Reading - FYE25 RCD/WM Budget

Update WM Control Cards

Budget Hearing - Approve FYE25 RCD/WM Budget, Initiate WM
Assessment Apportionment
Memorial Day

Apportionment and Assessment Letters Due to Water Users
Review RCD Board Appointments

1
11

15
25

19 22

1

14

28

25

1
9

23
27

12

27

2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 12 13

14 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 26 27
28 29 30 31

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10
11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 20 21 23 24
25 26 27 28 29

2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9

10 11 12 13 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 29 30

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 26 27
28 29 30

2 3 4
5 6 7 8 10 11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 24 25
26 28 29 30 31

1
2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 13 14 15

16 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 28 29

RCD Meeting

RCD Meeting

RCD Meeting

RCD Meeting

RCD Meeting

Begin 5:30 schedule

17



July 2024

August 2024

September 2024

October 2024

November 2024

December 2024

July

August

September

October

November

December

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

07/04/24 (Thu) Holiday
07/11/24 (Thu) WAC Meeting

07/25/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

08/06/24 (Tue) Deadline
08/29/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

09/02/24 (Mon) Holiday
09/12/24 (Thu) WAC Meeting
09/26/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

10/14/24 (Mon) Holiday
10/24/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting

10/31/24 (Thu) Deadline

11/11/24 (Mon) Holiday
11/14/24 (Thu) WAC Meeting

11/21/24 (Thu) RCD Meeting
11/28/24 (Thu) Holiday
11/29/2024 (Fri) Holiday

12/24/24 (Tue) Holiday
12/25/24 (Wed) Holiday
12/31/24 (Tue) Deadline

Independence day

Certify Apportionments to Auditor, Initiate FYE25 Audit, Annual DM
Evaluation

Certified Apportionments due to Auditor
Board Meeting

Labor Day
Draft 2023/24 SRWSA Annual Use Report
1st Reading - 2023/24 SRWSA Annual Use Report

Indigenous Peoples Day
2nd Reading - 2023/24 SRWSA Annual Use Report, 1st Reading -
2025 RCD Calendar
Irrigation Season Ends - Direct Billing

Veterans Day (Observed Friday 11/10/23)
Approve 23/24 SRWSA Annual Use Report
Regular Board Meeting - Approve SRWSA Annual Usage Report, 2nd
Reading RCD Calendar
Thanksgiving
Thanksgiving Holiday

Christmas Eve
Christmas Day Observed
SRWSA Annual Use Report submitted to Court

1 2 3 5 6

7 8 9 10 12 13
14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 26 27
28 29 30 31

1 2 3
4 5 7 8 9 10
11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 30 31

1 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 27 28
29 30

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12

13 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 25 26
27 28 29 30

1 2

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 12 13 15 16
17 18 19 20 23
24 25 26 27 28 29 30

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 26 28
29 30

4

11

25

6

29

2
12

26

14
24
31

11 14
21

25
31

RCD Meeting

22

27



SUSAN RIVER

WATERMASTER SERVICE AREA

ANNUAL USE REPORT - 2022/2023



Susan River

Watermaster Service Area

Annual Use Report- 2022/2023

Fiscal Year: July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023

Irrigation Season: March 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023

Storage Season: November 1, 2023 - February 29, 2024

Lassen County, California

Decree No.’s 4573, 8174 and 8175

Submitted by December 31, 2023 to

The Presiding Judge, Lassen County Superior Court

Prepared By:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District

170 Russell Ave.

Susanville, CA 96130



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Contents

General Description 4

Water Supply 5

Precipitation Outlook for 2023-2024 5

Methods of Distribution: 6

Watermaster Service Fiscal Information: 6

2022/2023 Water Allocation and Distribution: 6

Appendices A-E

Appendix A: Department of Water Resources, Digital Gauge Data 10

Appendix B: Depth of the Meadow Channel Ditch on Willow Creek 13

Appendix C: Susan River Flow Graph 14

3 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

General Description

The Susan River service area is located in the southern part of Lassen County in the vicinity of

the town of Susanville. There are approximately 246 water right owners in the service area

with total continuous allotments of 351.922 cubic feet per second in addition to storage rights

held by several users. The source of supply consists of three stream systems as follows: Susan

River, Baxter Creek, Parker Creek and their associated tributaries.

Susan River has its sources on the east slope of the Sierra Nevada Mountains in the

southwesterly portion of Lassen County immediately east of Lassen National Park at an

elevation of about 7,900 feet. Its channel runs easterly from Silver Lake through McCoy Flat

Reservoir, through Susanville, and easterly on to Honey Lake.

Susan River has four major tributaries: Paiute Creek (entering from the north at Susanville),

Gold Run and Lassen Creeks (entering from the south between Susanville and Johnstonville),

and Willow Creek (entering from the north above Standish). Gold Run Creek and Lassen Creek

rise on the north slope of Diamond Mountain at an elevation of about 7,600 feet. The

watersheds of Paiute Creek and Willow Creek are lower and they rise on the south slopes of

Round Valley Mountains.

A short distance below the confluence of Willow Creek and Susan River the river channel

divides into three branches known as Tanner Slough Channel on the north, Old Channel in the

middle, and Dill Slough Channel on the south. Two channels which take off Dill Slough on the

south are known as Hartson Slough and Whitehead Slough.

The Baxter Creek stream system is situated in Honey Lake Valley on the east slope of the

Sierra Nevada about 10 miles southeast of Susanville in the southern portion of Lassen County.

The principal streams in the Baxter Creek stream system are Baxter Creek (which rises in the

extreme western portion of the basin and flows in an easterly direction), Elysian Creek, Sloss

Creek, and Bankhead Creek (a tributary to Baxter Creek from the south). Elysian Creek has

three tributaries: North Fork Elysian Creek, South Fork Elysian Creek, and Kanavel Creek.

4 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Parker Creek is situated in Honey Lake Valley on the east slope of the Sierra Nevada about 15

miles southeast of Susanville in the southern portion of Lassen County. Its source is on the

east slope of Diamond Mountain and flows in an easterly direction for about 5 miles into

Honey Lake. The primary area of water use in the Susan River service area is in Honey Lake

Valley between Susanville and the northwest shore of Honey Lake, 25 miles in length. The

valley floor is at an elevation of about 4,000 feet.

Water Supply

The water supply in the Susan River service area comes from two major sources: snowmelt

runoff and springs. The snowpack on the Willow Creek Valley and Paiute Creek watersheds,

which embrace more than half of the Susan River stream system, melts early in the spring and

usually is entirely depleted by the first of May. The irrigation requirements from this portion

of the stream system after the first of May are almost entirely dependent upon the flow of

perennial springs which remain constant throughout the year. Under normal conditions, the

flows of Lassen Creek, Gold Run Creek, Baxter Creek, Parker Creek, and the Susan River above

Susanville are well sustained by melting snows until early June. The flow from perennial

springs in this portion of the water system is comparatively small. The Lassen Irrigation

Company stores supplemental water in Hog Flat Reservoir and McCoy Flat Reservoir, located

on the headwaters of the Susan River. This stored water is released into the Susan River,

which is used as a conveyance and commingled with the natural flow usually during June and

July. It is then diverted into the A and B Canal leading to Lake Leavitt for further distribution

by the irrigation district.

Precipitation Outlook for 2023-2024

The National Ocean and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) has predicted as of September 21

2023 there is an equal chance of above average precipitation this fall with a 95 % chance

occurring late fall November -December and January in the Susan River through January

2024. With this information, there is confidence that the Honey Lake Valley can look forward

to another year with adequate precipitation.

5 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Methods of Distribution:

Irrigation in the Susan River service area is accomplished by placing diversion dams in the

main channel of the stream system, to raise the water to the level required to divert into the

canals, sloughs and ditches. These dams for diversion are relatively large on the Susan River

compared to those on the smaller tributaries. Various methods of irrigation are practiced; the

most common approach is by flooding. With this technique, water is transported by a main

conveyance channel along the high point of the lands to be irrigated. It is then dispersed by

laterals along the higher ridges of the tract from which it can be distributed over the area to

be irrigated by the smaller laterals of the ditch system. Sub-irrigation occurs in some areas

incidental to surface irrigation or because of seepage from ditches or creek channels. During

the past several years, numerous users have increased the usage of sprinkler irrigation by

wheel lines to improve the efficiency of their irrigation systems.

Watermaster Service Fiscal Information:

The Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Watermaster Service Budget was adopted on May 27
th
, 2022 in the

amount of $274,162,00.00. The Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Watermaster Service budget was

adopted on June 22nd, 2023 in the amount of $290,350.51. FY 22/23 and 23/24 Budgets saw

an increase from the FY 2021/2022 assessment of $225,000. This increase was to cover three

active water right litigation cases. The required notification regarding the budget,

apportionment, and individual assessments were mailed to the users and filed with the Lassen

County Superior Court before June 15, 2022. There were no filed objections to the budget or

apportionment within 15 days or thereafter; and thus, deemed approved by the Court without

further hearing. The approved budget, apportionment, and individual assessments were

certified to the Lassen County Auditor and the Lassen County Board of Supervisors prior to

August 10, 2022.

2022/2023 Water Allocation and Distribution:

The Susan River Watermaster Service Area experienced high precipitation compared to the

area’s average. Based on California Cooperative Snow Surveys for the Northern California

6 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

area, October 2022 through September 2023, the area held at its peak over 100% of the

average annual snow water content of April 1
st
, the date of highest average annual snowpack

depth. The general availability of water for the various stream systems are described below.

Lassen Creek: No Data Available

Hills Creek: Recent fires have improved waterflow. Hills Creek has a prorated supply

throughout the year.

Gold Run Creek:. Water was available in prorated amounts for irrigation until August where it

ceased temporarily. Prorate flows returned by September.

Upper Susan River: Flows for the Upper Susan met the full requirements of the Schedule 5,

2nd priority water right allotments up until early May. Stock water was available to most users

through the irrigation season.

Lower Susan River Below the Confluence of Willow Creek: The Lower Susan had irrigation

water for Schedule 3, 3
rd
priority users until late April and was nearly sufficient for Schedule

3, 2
nd

priority users until mid-late May. Stock water was available to most users until

mid-June. Past this point, only users upstream were able to exercise stock watering rights.

Willow Creek: Prorated allocations were available through late May. Flows were sufficient for

regular stock watering of the second priority until late June. Conveyance of stock water to

downstream users developed issues from June to September.

Bankhead/Sloss Creek: No data available.

Lassen Irrigation Company Storage Reservoirs: LIC began diverting water from McCoy Flat

on June 1st, 2023.

7 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Miscellaneous Notable Events:

1. Kelsey Siemer was welcomed as the new District Manager in July 2023. She brings with

her an extensive background in conservation and agriculture accompanied by degrees

in Animal Science and Creative Writing.

2. Tonya Clark started as the new Deputy Watermaster August 21, 2023. Tonya has an

extensive background in ranching, farming, and irrigating.

3. The Old Channel Realignment and Piping Project is moving forward with a proposed

groundbreaking date of 11/15/2023.

4. The new vehicle purchased in the last fiscal year is being utilized by the Watermaster.

5. The water rights litigation initiated in 2022 was resolved and affirmatively decided in

the Appellate Courts in favor of the HLV RCD.

8 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Appendices A-C

Numerical values are in cubic feet per second (cfs)

A blank space or “0” indicates no reading.

9 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Appendix A: Department of Water Resources, Digital

Gauge Data

FLOW OF SUSAN RIVER at SUSANVILLE (SSU) ( )
𝑓𝑡3𝑠−1

𝐶𝐹𝑆

Note: These daily values were averaged from the gauge’s ‘Real Time’ 15-minute interval data.

Throughout the beginning of the season, the River commonly had dramatic increases and decreases in

flow, in the span of 8-48 hours. Because of this, some of the above daily averages may be skewed.

Values measured in CFS for the irrigation season from March 1
st
, 2023 to October 31

st
, 2023.

10 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

FLOW OF SUSAN RIVER at the CONFLUENCE of WILLOW CREEK (SSD) ( )𝑓𝑡3𝑠−1/𝐶𝐹𝑆

Note: These daily values were averaged from the gauge’s ‘Real Time’ 15-minute interval data.

Values measured in CFS for the irrigation season from March 1
st
, 2023 to October 31

st
, 2023.

11 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

FLOW OF WILLOW CREEK at the CONFLUENCE of the SUSAN RIVER (WCD) ( )𝑓𝑡3𝑠−1/𝐶𝐹𝑆

Note: These daily values were averaged from the gauge’s ‘Real Time’ 15-minute interval data. The

‘0’ represents known extremely high flows, overtopping the gauge sensor and reading as zeros.

Values measured in CFS for the irrigation season from March 1
st
, 2023 to October 31

st
, 2023.

12 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Appendix B: Depth of the Meadow Channel Ditch on

Willow Creek

Note: Recorder was placed at the land intersection of the California Department of Fish and

Wildlife and the Hanson ranch. A measure of depth is not a reflection of the flow of the system. All

depth measurements are relative to a starting measurement on 7/11/2022, a negative value

represents a depth below that reference measurement.

13 | Page



Susan River Watermaster Service Area – Annual Use Report

2022/2023

Appendix C: Susan River Flow Graph

Note: Data sourced from Department of Water Resources digital flow gauges, California Data

Exchange Center (CDEC). Points represent average daily flows, connected by lines. Daily values

were averaged from the gauge’s ‘Real Time’ 15-minute interval data.

14 | Page



Honey Lake Valley RCD District Manager Report
Andrea Stuemky and Kelsey Siemer - District Manager(s)

December 7th, 2023

RCD Administration:
● Audit NEXT WEEK!

○ Wrapping things up with Andrea Drew, cleaning up QB
○ Audit December 11-12th

● Bookkeeping
○ Monthly Reports (attached here)
○ Have a meeting scheduled to finalize all bookkeeping and record’s changes to

the auditor's preference for next FY review.
● Health Insurance Coverage for Employees

○ MOU, Resolution, and Agreement to be signed tonight
○ 45-days after approval of MOU, Resolution, and Agreement, employees will be

enrolled in health care coverage!

Watermaster:
● WAC

○ Approved Annual Usage Report at November meeting
○ Voted to approve changes to Rules and Regulations regarding open vacancies

on the board
● Side-by-Side

○ Kelsey to schedule a Side by Side training with Will Johnson for this Winter / next
Spring

Grant Updates:
● DWR: Urban and Multi-benefit Drought Relief Grant Program - Old Channel Project

○ Started invoicing DWR monthly to help with cash flow issues, is helping slightly
but there is still quite the delay in receiving payment

○ M.A. Stiener has started construction
○ Land-owner dispute is ongoing, hoping to be resolved shortly

● DWR: Lahontan Basin IRWM Implementation - Round 1 and 2
○ Round 1: Lead Admin Agency for City of Susanville

■ City of Susanville still drafting agreement for HLV RCD to assume Admin
duties, gave feedback and made changes of original contract, waiting for
amended agreement

■ Amendment still within DWR for approval
○ Round 2:

■ Waiting on return agreement from DWR, will not be finalized until Round 1
agreement is amended

● DOC: Susanville Ranch Park - Riparian Corridor and Working Lands Restoration



○ Extension granted through 3/1/2025 to accommodate CEQA timeline
○ Amendment drafted by DOC, working its way through their system
○ Q3 Invoice received, submitted a monthly invoice for October in order to get

contractors paid more quickly.

● USFS: Post Fire Recovery - Sheep, Hog and Dixie Fire scars
○ Catherine has been working hard to get Bio-Massing completely finished!
○ Other projects include:

■ Grant awarded for executing the FMP for the SIR! Tim and Catherine to
work together to draft!

■ Grant application submitted to continue writing FMPs for landowners.
■ Continuing to look for funding opportunities to continue post-fire work!

● NACD: TA2022
○ Andrew to continue working on TA projects while Tiffany is on maternity leave.

● SNC: Modoc RCD Capacity Building
○ Catherine working through UC Davis CEQA courses, also working alongside Tim

this winter
○ Catherine, Andrea, Kelsey, and Robin set to go to the CARCD conference next

week!
○ Submitted first invoice to MRCD for expended costs on 10/5/2023, followed up

with Elyse, have not heard back.

● CalRecycle: Farm and Ranch Solid Waste Cleanup and Abatement Grant - Minch
FR77

○ Dave Schroeder finished the Minch site work!
○ Invoiced CalRecycle 11/20/2023

● Watershed Coalition: Lassen PBA
○ Still looking for a coordinator, one application received!
○ Discussion held tonight about the future of the PBA

● NRCS: CARCD Underserved Farmers and Ranchers
○ Tiffany (Point Blue), Kelsey, and Andrea completed 2 demonstration days!
○ Egan Ranch Riparian Restoration on November 11th
○ SIR Planting Workshop on November 16th.

● CAL FIRE Workforce Development Grant:
○ Applied for in March, funds are now available for the trainings we requested
○ Further discussions to follow with CARCD and Catherine about changing which

trainings we will utilize



Looking Forward to 2024!
● Strategic Plan update - still looking for 1 Board Member to help Laurie!
● WAC Meeting - January 9th
● Tonya Clark is off December and January
● DM Mid-Year Review and Budget Review at next meeting


	HLVRCD_ December Agenda_12072023.docx.pdf
	HLVRCD_ October Meeting Minutes_102620023 (1).pdf
	I. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL
	II.   APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	III. PUBLIC COMMENT
	IV. CONSENT ITEMS
	A. Correspondence
	B. Meeting Minutes – 9/28/2023, 10/06/2023
	C. Financial Reports
	D. Agreements / Contracts
	V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION - RCD
	VIII. ADJOURNMENT – 8:27 PM

	HLVRCD_CLOSED November Meeting Minutes_10262023.docx (1).pdf
	Agreement HLVRCD-LFSC N Susanville WUI Fuel Treatments Project CEQA 11292023.pdf
	North Susanville WUI CEQA MND Initial Study Dec2023tck.pdf
	North Susanville WUI CEQA NOI Dec 2023tck.pdf
	Attachment One - Resolution for Health Benefits - Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District.pdf
	Attachment Two - Memorandum of Understanding - Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District.pdf
	Attachment Three - Program Participation Agreement - Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District.pdf
	DRAFT2_2024 RCD Calendar.pdf
	FINAL DRAFT 2022-2023 Annual Use Draft.docx (1).pdf
	District Manager Report 12072023.pdf



